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Integrity - Neutrality, impartiality, transparency, accountability,
openness

Professionalism - Expertise, discipline, credibility, ethics,
commitment

Respect for the Community, Clients and Staff -
Freedom of expression, responsiveness, understanding,
efficiency, effectiveness

Foresight - A proactive attitude, anticipation, awareness

We are committed to -

Public - Fulfilling the needs and expectations of the community

Industry - Providing a fair regulatory environment conducive to
innovation and business investment

Economy - Maintaining Hong Kong's position as a pre-eminent
communications centre in the region to support economic
development

Staff - Maintaining a cohesive, versatile and professional team
and nurturing a working environment that recognises and
rewards results

Civil Service - Being a model department that performs
effectively and efficiently

To provide full support to the Communications Authority
in fulfilling its vision that Hong Kong has the world-class
communications services to meet the challenges of the
information age.
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It gives me great pleasure to present the 2017/18 annual report of
the Office of the Communications Authority (“OFCA").

Market Overview

Before reviewing our work in the past year, | would like to take
a moment to present the overall picture of the communications
market. In the telecommunications sector, the mobile service
market remains highly competitive. The total number of mobile
service subscribers has exceeded 18 million, representing a
penetration rate over 240% and is one of the highest in the
world. The mobile data market continues to flourish at a robust
pace, with the total volume of mobile data usage amounting to
32 444 Terabytes per month, representing an average monthly

consumption of about 4.4 Gigabytes per capita.

Our fixed-line market is also providing comprehensive and
affordable broadband services to the public. There are about 2.66
million registered customers using fixed broadband services and
the household penetration rate is over 92%. Due to the sustained
efforts of the industry, Hong Kong broadband service users are
able to enjoy one of the most advanced fibre-based networks in
the world. The local fibre penetration rate has reached 75.6%,
which ranks fifth in the Global Fibre to the Home Ranking out of
65 economies according to the report issued by the Fibre to the

Home Council Europe in February 2018.

There has also been exciting development in the broadcasting
sector. The domestic free television programme (“free TV")
service landscape is further enriched by the launch of the third
free TV licensee in Hong Kong. The Chinese and English channels

of Fantastic Television Limited were launched on 14 May 2017 and

Chapter 1 Message from the Director-General m
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30 July 2018 respectively, providing Hong Kong viewers with

more programme choices.

2017/18 has been a challenging and rewarding year for OFCA.
I would like to highlight some of our major tasks in the year.

Broadcasting Services

One of the major tasks of the OFCA in 2017/18 was to assist
the Communications Authority (“CA”) in conducting the review
of the relevant provisions in the Codes of Practice governing
indirect advertising and advertisements for undertakers
and associated services. The review aimed at facilitating
broadcasting licensees to diversify their source of advertising in
light of the keen competition in the broadcasting industry while
safeguarding the interests of viewers. After taking into account
the views collected from the industry and the public, the CA
decided to relax the regulations governing indirect advertising in
television programmes, and to lift the prohibition on broadcast
of advertisements for undertakers and associated services with
effect from 27 July 2018.

During the year, we continued to handle complaints about
broadcast materials. In 2017/18, OFCA handled more than

4 340 complaints (relating to over 1 860 cases). A vast majority

of these cases involved breaches of a minor nature, allegations
which did not constitute any breach, or cases which fell outside
the remit of the relevant ordinances. OFCA dealt with most of
these cases under the powers delegated by the CA. 10 cases

were submitted to the CA for consideration and determination.

Telecommunications Services

Preparation for the rollout of the fifth generation (“5G") mobile
telecommunications services was undoubtedly the primary
focus of our work on the telecommunications front in 2017/18.
Following the issue of a work plan by the CA in March 2017 on
making available additional spectrum for public mobile service,
we have been diligently following up on its implementation,
which includes relocating existing spectrum assignments,
clearing suitable frequency bands, assisting the CA in
conducting public consultation on the proposed arrangements
for the multiple frequency bands identified for the provision of
5G services, etc. Up till now, a total of 4 500 MHz of spectrum
in multiple frequency bands have been so identified. Our
target is to announce the decisions on the detailed assignment

arrangements for these frequency bands by the end of 2018.

Internet of Things (“IoT”) is an emerging technology which
enables the provision of communications platforms and services
for interconnected devices to generate, exchange and consume
data with minimal human intervention. In 2017/18, OFCA
supported the CA in creating a new licensing regime for the
provision of Wireless 10T platforms and services with a view
to facilitating the development of loT services and enabling
various Smart City initiatives. The new licensing regime is well-
received by the industry. Two licences have been issued since its

implementation on 1 December 2017.

Another major task of OFCA during the year was to assist the
CA in making arrangements for the re-assignment of the 200
MHz of spectrum in the 900 MHz and 1 800 MHz bands upon
expiry of the existing assignments between November 2020

and September 2021. To this end, we have assisted the CA in
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HIEER - RIRSAREBEHEREARBNAHIEE
ATRIAE M IRIBRY - HAI1E2017 18FEH HKEH
BEHBEY  BBAARANEHMNEGE - GIIIARBEE
MHEFEE - BREENMKERE  MARBEESEEE
FRE o LA BARILAR TEREA o BRI, M
FacebookHH » BEMRER TS @ E—FINREEHE
HME -

SRR S HRE
REXRF RELRERDENBETERERSE S EY
REHESER BB - DRI AR S R T R RS R

RHRRA 0 HIEFE - EENRBIE - HMASHE
BB SR EAARE R R R HIERTEES
SEE - BT BRI ERBLE - MESGRL - —LUE > R
MTrEREZSHMEATENRE  EENRERNE
BRERBEGE - FEERANLRE -

BETBNHEEEREZAMMBRERI HNBAR
% BMEGE SBRBHEEBLERBREARBERR
BREZ - Atk BM—EEBHEEXREFE  BREZHET
BIREE  REBERMEERE

3 TEORBERGRETE L REAMABMEANIRE
BESENXEMEAFETHNERREREEREZ— -
Zar Bl EBENXEMEEE BAREDKE  BER
—BEAEMERMEERBRNTTE  DAR SN REEES
PREHEENRBEERE < EABRABRIT RS -

RE > BRORHBNRREEFEARMNES  BARE
FHEEGRERHEERR  LRBRBANEERXER
MBFNERDZFBRMANIE - RAFHIA2ERER
& MMRDEST  REEXERH ERE—FRNEE
HBPIFTRI AN B AR - ks B R R TAEHIET S IRHER -

qu

B RIERERAREAF R EMER  BRE—F
MEREEEE RS  LAREENENERRBEER -

m = = pHnEs



conducting public consultation, and issuing a joint statement
with the Secretary for Commerce and Economic Development
on the respective decisions on the assignment arrangements
and the related spectrum utilisation fees. We will continue our

work on this reassignment exercise in 2018/19.

Public payphone is a basic telephone service which the
universal service provider is required to provide under the
Universal Service Obligation (“USQO") in accordance with the
Telecommunications Ordinance. In view of the diminishing
demand for public payphone services, we assisted the CA to
embark on a review of the services in June 2017. We target
to complete the review in 2019 to determine the reasonable
number of public payphones that should be retained subject to
the USO.

Safequarding Consumer Interests

While consumers in Hong Kong enjoy a wide range of
competitive telecommunications services, we believe it is
equally important to encourage service providers and operators
to enhance their service quality. To this end, we have been
actively championing measures to accord better protection to

consumers through collaborations with the industry.

The establishment of the Customer Complaint Settlement
Scheme is one of the significant consumer-protection projects
implemented through the cooperation between OFCA and
the Communications Association of Hong Kong (“CAHK"),
the leading association of the communications industry. The
Scheme is operated by CAHK with funding from OFCA. It
provides an efficient and economic way to help consumers
resolve bill disputes in deadlock with their telecommunications

service operators through mediation.

We will continue to work closely with the industry to explore
other measures which will further enhance consumer
interests and improve the overall quality of service of the

telecommunications industry.

At the same time, to enhance public awareness of the smart
use of communications services and to assist the public to
make informed service choices, we have launched a large-scale
consumer education campaign in 2017/18 to relay to the public
various consumer messages through different activities and
programmes, such as public seminars, community talks, school
performances and roving exhibitions. In addition, we host a
Facebook Fan Page named “Communications Master o 38z,
##= N to further enhance our publicity efforts in promoting the

consumer messages through the social media platform.

Looking ahead, we will continue to assist the CA in performing
its regulatory functions on the broadcasting front, striking
a balance between providing a more conducive business
environment to broadcasting licensees and protection of the
interests of viewers. On the telecommunications front, we
will assist the CA to finalise the arrangements for assigning
the planned supply of spectrum and to continue to identify
additional spectrum to enable Hong Kong to gear up to the 5G
era. As always, we will continue to keep track of technology
and market developments and provide support to the CA in
updating and streamlining the regulatory and licensing regimes
to ensure that they are conducive to business innovation and

investment.

Finally, | would like to express my gratitude to members of the
CA for their guidance; members of the advisory committees of
OFCA for their invaluable advice; and all stakeholders including
those in the telecommunications and broadcasting sectors for
their support throughout the year. My special thanks also go to
all of my colleagues for their commitment and professionalism
in accomplishing our goals in the past year and in developing

new initiatives for the coming years.
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The Development of Digital Terrestrial
Television Services

Domestic free television programme service licensees (“free
TV licensees”) are responsible for constructing transmission
networks or engaging other network service operators to
deliver their free TV services throughout Hong Kong. Among
the three free TV licensees, Television Broadcasts Limited (“TVB")
and HK Television Entertainment Company Limited (“HKTVE")
(which operates ViuTV) provide a total of seven digital terrestrial
television (“DTT") programme channels by using spectrum in
the 470-806 MHz band'. DTT signals are mainly delivered by
transmitting stations established on hilltops. Since the launch
of DTT services in late 2007, a total of 29 transmitting stations
have been constructed by phases. With OFCA's support, TVB
and HKTVE have continued their efforts to extend coverage of
their DTT transmission network. Currently, the DTT transmission
network has achieved an overall coverage of close to 100% of

the population.

Roll-out of New Domestic Free
Television Programme Services

Fantastic Television Limited (“Fantastic TV") started to provide
its licensed free TV service by launching its Chinese channel
on 14 May 2017, using the hybrid fibre coaxial network
operated by Hong Kong Cable Television Limited (“HKCTV")
for transmission of programme signals. Residents of buildings
with In-Building Coaxial Cable Distribution Systems (“IBCCDS")
installed by HKCTV can readily receive Fantastic TV's free TV
services. For buildings with their own IBCCDS, residents can
receive Fantastic TV's services through interconnection of their
IBCCDS with HKCTV's network. Currently, Fantastic TV has a
coverage of about 93% of the total number of households in

Hong Kong.

Pursuant to its free TV licence, Fantastic TV was required to
launch a 24-hour English channel by 30 May 2018. In April

1

2018, Fantastic TV applied to the CA for an extension of the
deadline for launching its English channel by two months to
30 July 2018. Having considered the unigue circumstances
of this case, the CA granted a two-month grace period to
enable Fantastic TV to roll out its English channel. Fantastic TV

launched its English channel on 30 July 2018.

Review of Regulations Governing
Indirect Advertising

We assist the CA in conducting regular reviews of the codes of
practice to provide proper guidance to broadcasting licensees,
and to ensure that the standards stipulated therein are in line
with community expectations and ongoing development of the

broadcasting industry.

In 2017/18, the CA conducted a review of the regulations
governing indirect advertising, as well as advertisements for
undertakers and associated services. The objective of the
review was to provide a more conducive business environment
to licensees on the one hand while protecting the interests of

the viewers on the other.

Upon completion of the review, revisions to the relevant codes
of practice were made to relax the regulations governing
indirect advertising. With effect from 27 July 2018, indirect
advertising is permitted in TV programmes except for
news programmes, current affairs programmes, children’s
programmes, educational programmes, religious service and
other devotional programmes. Product placement (i.e. the
type of indirect advertising where licensees receive payment or
other valuable consideration for exposure or use of products/
services within a programme) is allowed so long as the exposure
or use of products/services within a programme is presented
in a natural and unobtrusive manner having regard to the
programme context and genre, and that there is no direct
encouragement of purchase or use of the products/services.

To protect the interests of viewers, licensees are required to

The other free TV licensee, Fantastic TV, uses a fixed network to deliver its free TV services.

Chapter 2 Sustaining the Development of the Broadcasting Industry
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clearly inform viewers of the inclusion of indirect advertising
before a programme starts. The CA also lifted the prohibition
on broadcast of advertisements for undertakers and associated
services on TV and radio. The new rules also took effect on
27 July 2018.

Licence Administration

Application for Domestic Free Television
Programme Services Licence

In April 2014, the CA received an application for free TV licence
from Hong Kong Television Network Limited (“HKTV"). In
January 2016, the CA submitted to the Chief Executive in
Council (“CE in C") its assessment of and recommendations
on HKTV's free TV licence application. In September 2016,
CE in C agreed with the CA's recommendations and decided
to give HKTV more time to submit the information required
under the Broadcasting Ordinance (“BO"”), and invited the
CA, on receipt of the required information from HKTV, to
submit further recommendations to the CE in C on HKTV's
application. Following the CE in C’s decision, we assisted the
CA in following up with HKTV on the required information. In
March 2018, HKTV withdrew the application due to commercial

considerations.

Application for Renewal of a Non-domestic
Television Programme Service Licence

During the period, we also assisted the CA in processing an
application for renewal of a non-domestic television programme
service licence from Phoenix Satellite Television Company
Limited, which was approved by the CA.

Handling of Broadcast Complaints

The CA does not pre-censor broadcast content. Instead, it
adopts a complaint-driven approach to ensure that broadcast
content complies with existing legislation, licence conditions
and the codes of practice that it has issued. As the executive
arm of the CA, we assist the CA in handling complaints about
broadcast materials in accordance with provisions in the
Broadcasting (Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 391)
("B(MP)O") and the broadcast complaint handling procedures
of the CA.

In 2017/18, we handled 1 866 cases (involving 4 342
complaints)?, which represented a slight increase of 0.5% in
the number of cases, and a significant decrease of 75% in
the number of complaints processed®, as compared with the
figures recorded in 2016/17 (1 856 cases, involving 17 078
complaints). Among them, 10 cases (754 complaints) were
referred to the Broadcast Complaints Committee under the CA
for consideration before submission to the CA for deliberation
and determination. Details of the complaint cases considered
by the CA are published on its website. Under powers
delegated by the CA, the Director-General of Communications
handled the remaining 1 856 cases (involving 3 588
complaints). These complaints were related to breaches of a
minor nature; allegations which did not constitute any breach;
or were outside the remit of section 11(1) of the B(MP)O (i.e.
the substance of the complaints did not involve contravention
of relevant legislation, licence conditions or provisions in the

codes of practice).

To ensure operational efficiency, complaints with similar allegations against the same issue or broadcast material are handled together and counted

as a single case.
3

The significant difference between the number of complaints processed in 2017/18 and in 2016/17 was mainly attributed to a complaint case

against the provision of simplified Chinese subtitles and / or the use of Putonghua in some news programmes broadcast on the former J5 Channel

of TVB, which gave rise to over 13 000 complaints in 2016/17.
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Gearing up to the 5G era

Making available additional spectrum for 5G
development

To better prepare Hong Kong for the timely launch of the 5G
services, there is a need for additional spectrum for public

mobile services towards 2020 and beyond.

To implement the work plan issued by the CA in March 2017
for making available additional spectrum for public mobile
services, OFCA served notice in April 2017 to spectrum
assignees of the 26 GHz band, notifying them that their
frequency assignments in the 26 GHz band will be withdrawn
on 1 April 2019 with a view to re-allocating the 26 GHz band
for 5G services. In December 2017, OFCA assisted the CA in
issuing an invitation for expression of interest (“EOI”) in using
the 4 100 MHz of spectrum in the 26 GHz and 28 GHz bands
for the provision of 5G services. The EOI aimed to gauge the
demand of the local industry for such spectrum and to solicit
information from the industry and interested parties on relevant
matters to facilitate the CA's consideration of the appropriate
arrangements for spectrum assignments. After reviewing
the information received in the EOI, OFCA supported the CA
in preparing a joint public consultation with the Secretary
for Commerce and Economic Development (“SCED") on the
proposed allocation of the 26/28 GHz bands to mobile service
and the associated arrangements for spectrum assignment, as
well as the related Spectrum Utilization Fees (“SUF”). The joint

public consultation was launched on 26 July 2018.

From July to September 2017, OFCA assisted the CA to
conduct a public consultation on the proposal to change the
frequency allocation of the 3.4 — 3.7 GHz band from fixed
satellite service (space-to-Earth) to mobile service, to assign 200
MHz of spectrum in the 3.4 — 3.6 GHz band for the provision
of public mobile services, and to reserve 100 MHz of spectrum
in the 3.6 — 3.7 GHz band as a guard band. In addition,

OFCA commissioned a consultancy study to examine radio

interference mitigating measures to enable the co-existence
of satellite master antenna television systems and systems
of mobile services within the 3.4 — 4.2 GHz band. Having
duly considered the views and comments received during the
consultation, findings of the consultancy study and feedback
from the industry, the CA decided on 28 March 2018 to effect
the aforesaid re-allocation from 1 April 2020, thereby giving
an advance notice period of two years to the affected licensees

and parties.

As the next step, OFCA also assisted the CA during the year to
make preparations for launching a joint public consultation with
SCED on the proposed arrangements for assignment of the
spectrum in the 3.4 — 3.6 GHz band for the provision of public
mobile services and the related SUF. The joint consultation was
launched in May 2018.

OFCA has been closely monitoring the global development on
spectrum planning for 5G services. It will continue its efforts in
identifying more spectrum to support the development of 5G

services in Hong Kong.

Facilitating the industry to conduct trials for
5G technologies and applications

OFCA has been encouraging and facilitating the industry
to conduct trials of 5G technologies and applications to
better prepare for the launch of 5G mobile services. As of
31 March 2018, the CA issued a total of seven trial permits,
with temporary, free-of-charge spectrum assignment for test
purposes, to equipment vendors and mobile network operators.
OFCA welcomes applications from other interested parties for

conducting further 5G trials.

Facilitating Development of Wireless
Internet of Things Services

loT is an emerging technology which enables the provision
of communications platforms and services for interconnected

devices to generate, exchange and consume data with minimal
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human intervention. OFCA provided support to the CA to
conduct an industry consultation in August 2017 on the
proposal to create a new Wireless Internet of Things (“WIloT")
Licence. The proposal received general support from the

industry.

Having carefully considered the views and comments received,
the CA announced on 1 December 2017 the creation of a
new licensing regime for the provision of WIoT platforms and
services using the shared frequency band of 920 — 925 MHz.
So far, two WIoT licenses have been issued.

Re-assignment of Frequency Spectrum
in the 900 MHz and 1 800 MHz Bands

Frequency spectrum in the 900 MHz and 1 800 MHz bands
is being deployed for the provision of second generation
("2G"), third generation (“3G") and fourth generation (“4G")
mobile services. The existing assignments for 49.8 MHz of
spectrum in the 900 MHz band and 148.8 MHz of spectrum
in the 1 800 MHz band will expire during the period between
November 2020 and September 2021. Together with 1.4 MHz
of currently unassigned spectrum in the two frequency bands,
a total of 200 MHz of spectrum is available for assignment / re-
assignment. The CA and SCED jointly conducted two rounds
of public consultation in 2016 and 2017 respectively to solicit
views and comments of the industry and other affected parties
on the proposed arrangements for spectrum re-assignment and
the related SUF.

Having carefully considered the views and comments received
in the two rounds of public consultation and the findings of
a technical study undertaken by an external consultant on
the possible service impact arising from different spectrum re-
assignment options, the CA and SCED jointly promulgated their
decisions in December 2017 to adopt a hybrid administratively-
assigned cum market-based approach for spectrum re-

assignment upon expiry of the existing assignments and on

Chapter 3 Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market

arrangements for the related SUF. The hybrid approach will
best meet the four objectives in spectrum re-assignment,
namely, ensuring customer service continuity, efficient
spectrum utilisation, promotion of effective competition, and
encouragement of investment and promotion of innovative

services.

Under the hybrid approach, each of the four incumbent
spectrum assignees will be offered a right of first refusal for
re-assignment of 20 MHz of spectrum in the 1 800 MHz band
(i.e. a total of 80 MHz of the re-assignment spectrum), so as
to safeguard the provision of 4G services in the Mass Transit
Railway premises and the provision of territory-wide 2G services.
The remaining 70 MHz of spectrum in the 1 800 MHz band
and all the 50 MHz of spectrum in the 900 MHz band, together
with any spectrum in respect of which the incumbent spectrum
assignees do not exercise their right of first refusal to take up
the spectrum offered, will be assigned by way of auction in
around the end of 2018.

To ensure a seamless transition when the spectrum is handed
over in 2021, OFCA is minded to convene a technical working
group comprising representatives of all the incumbent and
new spectrum assignees, to coordinate the relevant technical

arrangements.

Making Available the 5 GHz Shared
Band for the Provision of Public Mobile
Services

Recent advances in mobile technologies enable the use of the
shared spectrum in the 5 GHz band (“5 GHz Shared Band”)
for the provision of 4G mobile services based on the Long
Term Evolution standard in an unprotected and uncoordinated
manner. With a total 580 MHz of spectrum in the 5 GHz
Shared Band made available for use on a sharing basis, this
represents a significant addition to the existing total capacity of
the 552 MHz of spectrum in the sub-3 GHz bands assigned to
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mobile network operators (“MNQOs") for the provision of public
mobile services. Mobile users will benefit from the increased
service quality and capacity to be provided by MNOs through
the use of the 5 GHz Shared Band.

OFCA supported the CA in conducting a public consultation
in February 2018 on the proposals to make available the
5 GHz Shared Band for the provision of public mobile services,
and the associated regulatory and licensing regime. The

proposals received general support from the industry.

Having carefully considered the views and comments received,
the CA announced in June 2018 its decision to make available
the 5 GHz Shared Band for the provision of public mobile
services on a shared basis among the MNOs and the related
arrangements. The decision would enable Hong Kong to
become one of the first few economies in the world to adopt
advanced mobile technologies in the 5 GHz Shared Band for

the provision of higher speed public mobile services.

Strengthening the Licensing and
Regulation of Mobile Virtual Network
Operators

To ensure satisfactory provision of service by Mobile Virtual
Network Operators (“MVNQOs") for the protection of consumer
welfare, OFCA provided support to the CA to introduce
measures to strengthen the licensing and regulation of the
MVNOs. In September 2017, after taking into account
views and comments received from the industry and relevant
stakeholders, the CA issued a Code of Practice on the Cessation
Arrangements for MVNO Services to provide practical guidance
to the licensees in the event of cessation of MVNO services
in order to better protect consumer interest. The Code of
Practice sets out the requirements to ensure that MVNOs and
their hosting mobile network operators would manage the

service cessation arrangements in a better coordinated manner

Chapter 3 Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market

and that a reasonable advance notice would be given to the
affected service subscribers and the general public before any
service cessation of an MVNO. This would enable affected
service subscribers to make timely arrangements to reduce

adverse impacts caused.

Reduction of Telecommunications
Licence Fees

In November 2012, the CA and SCED issued a joint statement
to promulgate their decisions (“the Decisions”) to reduce
the customer connection fee level of Unified Carrier Licences
from $800 to $700 for each set of 100 customer connections;
and to reduce the mobile station fee level of Public
Radiocommunications Service Licences (Paging) and Services-
Based Operator Licences (Class 3) from $800 to $700 for
each set of 100 mobile stations. Following the completion of
the legislative procedure, the relevant licence fees took effect
on 1 March 2013. In February 2013, PCCW-HKT Telephone
Limited and Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited
(“PCCW and HKT") applied for leave to lodge a judicial review
("JR") against the Decisions. The JR proceedings ultimately
reached the Court of Final Appeal (“CFA"), which handed
down its judgement on 27 December 2017, allowing the
appeal of PCCW and HKT and declaring that the Decisions
were made upon error of laws. To give effect to the CFA
judgement, SCED and the CA have reviewed the licence fee
levels in accordance with the revised financial arrangements as
advised by the Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau, and
launched a public consultation on 8 June 2018 on the proposed
reduction of licence fees for five types of licences issued under
the Telecommunications Ordinance (“TO"), and the proposed
introduction of a new fee component under unified carrier

licence.
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Implementation of Measures for More
Efficient Use of the 8-digit Numbering
Plan

OFCA assisted the CA in conducting a consultation on five
proposed measures to make available additional number
resources for mobile services through more efficient use of the
existing 8-digit telecommunications numbering plan in October
2015. To ensure the smooth and timely implementation of
the five measures in three phases, OFCA has been closely
working with the industry and following up with the operators
concerned in respect of the implementation of the necessary
changes to their networks and systems. With the collaboration
and efforts of all parties involved, Phase 1 of the measure was

successfully implemented on 1 January 2017.

With the implementation of Phase 2 on 1 July 2017, allocation
of mobile numbers with new prefixes ‘4’, ‘7" and '8’ has
commenced from August 2017. To raise public awareness
of mobile numbers with these new prefixes, OFCA delivered
the message to the public through press release, social media
platform and OFCA's Community Talks in February and March
2018. OFCA also wrote to a number of trade organisations in
Hong Kong soliciting their help in disseminating the message
to their members and reminding them to make the necessary
changes to their systems in order to support the mobile

numbers with the new prefixes.

Phase 3 of the measures will be launched on 1 July 2021.
Following full implementation of the five measures in three
phases, a total of 15.72 million additional numbers will become
available for allocation to mobile services. They are expected
to be able to cope with the demand growth up for telephone

numbers to at least 2029.

Review of the Number of Public
Payphones under the Universal Service
Obligation

Public payphone is a form of basic telephone service which the
universal service provider is required under its USO to provide.
There were about 2 800 public payphones covered by USO
as at 31 March 2018. The cost of providing public payphone
service subject to the USO is shared by the fixed and mobile
services operators. In view of the diminishing demand for
public payphone service in recent years, the CA announced on
29 June 2017 to embark on a review to determine the
reasonable number of public payphones that should be subject
to the USO.

Whilst public payphones with an extremely low usage rate
(i.e. with an average revenue not more than $1 per day)
would be the subject of the review, OFCA would engage the
relevant stakeholders, including site owners for in-building
type public payphones and District Councils for kiosk type
public payphones, throughout the process such that any needs
and considerations specific to the locations or districts will be
well catered for before a decision to exclude specific public

payphones from the USO is made.

For in-building type public payphones, consultations with the
site owners were completed in February 2018. Altogether,
OFCA decided to exclude about 35% of the in-building
type public payphones from the USO. For kiosk type public
payphones, consultations with District Councils have started
since March 2018. It is expected that the entire review will be

completed by end 2019.

Development of Fixed Broadband
Services

Broadband access to various applications and content

services has become an integral part of people’s lives in Hong

Chapter 3 Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market
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Kong. With the continuous network rollout of fixed network
operators, the Hong Kong community is able to enjoy nearly
ubiquitous coverage of broadband networks deploying various
technologies. As at March 2018 there were around 2.66
million residential and commercial fixed-broadband subscribers,
with a household penetration rate of 93%. Broadband services
are now available at speeds of up to 10 Gbps. Around 83%
of fixed broadband subscribers use broadband services with a

speed of 10 Mbps or above.

According to a report issued by the Fibre to the Home
Council Europe in February 2018, Hong Kong ranked the fifth
worldwide in fibre to home/building household penetration
among the 65 economies under comparison. According to
the World Competitiveness Yearbook 2018 published by the
International Institute for Management Development in May
2018, Hong Kong was ranked the fourth out of 63 economies

in terms of average Internet bandwidth speed.

Landing of New Submarine Cable
Systems in Hong Kong

With the support of OFCA's single-point-of-contact service,
a new transcontinental submarine cable system (namely,
Asia Africa Europe-1) and a new domestic submarine cable
system (namely, Tseung Kwan O Express) have been brought
into service in Hong Kong from December and June 2017
respectively. In addition, four regional and transcontinental
systems (namely, Pacific Light Cable Network, Hong Kong-
Guam Cable System, Hong Kong-Americas Cable System and
South East Asia-Japan 2 Cable System), as well as two domestic
systems, (namely, Ultra Express Link and TKO Connect) are
being constructed and planned for putting into service between
2018 and 2020. OFCA will continue to assist operators in
applying for the necessary statutory approvals for construction

of new submarine cable systems in Hong Kong.

Development of the Hong Kong
Satellite Networks

Satellite spectrum and orbital positions are scarce natural
resources. Use of these resources by communications
satellites registered in Hong Kong should also comply with the
coordination and notification requirements of the International
In this regard, OFCA

supports the licensed satellite operators of Hong Kong to

Telecommunications Union (“ITU").

attend satellite network coordination meetings with foreign
administrations from time to time and assists in the processing
of licences for the launching and operation of satellites in space
orbits. In 2017/18, OFCA participated in three satellite network
coordination meetings with the administrations of Russia, the
United Kingdom and France respectively. Following the launch
of two new satellites, AsiaSat 9 in September 2017 and APSTAR
6C in May 2018 recently, there are now twelve satellites in orbit
operated by two Hong Kong companies licensed to provide

satellite communications services.

Setting and Enforcing
Telecommunications Standards

OFCA closely monitors international developments in
telecommunications standardisation, and updates local technical
standards in order to meet the needs of the industry and the
public. In 2017/18, one new and one revised technical standards
were approved and issued by the CA after consulting the Radio

Spectrum and Technical Standards Advisory Committee.

Qualified local and overseas testing laboratories are
now providing testing and certification services for
telecommunications equipment against technical standards
prescribed by the CA. In particular, local laboratories accredited
by the CA as local certification bodies (“LCBs”) can offer
a full range of telecommunications equipment testing and

certification services. In 2017/18, LCBs and foreign certification
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bodies issued 495 equipment certificates to meet the needs of

the telecommunications equipment market.

To ensure that all LCBs providing telecommunications
equipment testing and certification services meet the service
quality and performance standards required by OFCA,
OFCA will continue to closely monitor their performance by
conducting documentary checks, plant visits and reviews on a
regular basis. So far, all LCBs have been performing up to the

requirements set by OFCA.

Facilitating the Use of In-building
Co-axial Cable Distribution Systems
Channels

IBCCDS are used for carrying terrestrial television, closed
circuit television, satellite television and telecommunications
signals, etc. in multi-storey buildings that enable occupants in
buildings to get access to and enjoy various broadcasting and
telecommunications services. The CA is mindful of regulating
the efficient use of IBCCDS channels which are scarce
telecommunications resources. In 2017/18, OFCA assisted the
CA in processing applications for the use of IBCCDS channels
submitted by HKCTV for conveyance of its domestic pay TV
services and the domestic free TV services provided by Fantastic
TV.

Continued Efforts to Strengthen
Consumer Protection in the Use of
Telecommunications Services

Ongoing Implementation of “Mobile Bill
Shock” Preventive Measures

The growing popularity of smartphones and advanced mobile
devices has driven the growth of and demand for mobile data
services in recent years. At the same time, consumer complaints
relating to mobile broadband billing disputes is a common

concern among consumers. Many of these complaints involve

“mobile bill shock”, which refers to the shock consumers
experience upon receiving unexpectedly high mobile bill
charges. “Mobile bill shock” is mainly caused by unintentional
or inadvertent usage of mobile data services, locally or while

roaming outside Hong Kong.

To address this problem, OFCA has promulgated a series of
preventive measures for the industry since May 2010. These
measures include allowing customers to opt out of individual
services; setting a charge ceiling; setting a usage cap for all
kinds of usage-based mobile services; and alerting customers
through short messages when their pre-determined usage
threshold is reached, or when their roaming data usage is
triggered.

To increase the transparency of the relevant service information,
OFCA has published measures implemented by individual
operators on its website and provided regular updates. On top
of these measures, OFCA has organised a series of consumer
education programmes to enhance consumers’ awareness and
knowledge of mobile data services. OFCA has also posted a
data usage calculator on its website, which serves as a tool for
consumers to estimate their data usage consumption. With the
implementation of the abovementioned preventive measures
by mobile network operators and MVNOs as well as our on-
going consumer education efforts, the number of complaints
in relation to “mobile bill shock” decreased from 156 cases
in 2016 to 143 cases in 2017, representing a year-on-year

decrease of 8%.

Progress of the Implementation of Fair Usage
Policy Guidelines

Fixed and mobile broadband service providers offer a variety
of service plans to consumers, including plans with “unlimited
usage”. However, certain “unlimited usage” service plans
are in fact subject to usage restrictions imposed by service
providers in the name of Fair Usage Policy (“"FUP”). The FUP is
intended to prevent excessive usage of network resources by

Chapter 3 Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market
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individual customers, which may adversely affect the network
performance and hamper other customers’ use of the service.
For example, service providers may impose restrictions by
lowering the network service priority or reducing the access
speed for customers whose data usage has exceeded certain
threshold. Nevertheless, consumers may not be aware of the
existence of the FUP or understand the relevant terms and
conditions. Customers of “unlimited service” plans in particular
feel aggrieved when their data usage is subject to restriction
because of the FUP.

In order to protect consumer interests and enhance the
transparency of service information, the CA issued a set
of FUP guidelines in November 2011, governing the way
service providers should implement their FUP. The mandatory

guidelines have been in effect since February 2012.

In 2017/18, OFCA assisted the CA in handling nine FUP-
related complaint cases. None of them was found to be in

contravention of the FUP guidelines.

Enhancement of the Broadband Performance
Test System

Since December 2010, OFCA has launched a broadband
performance test system to enable broadband service users
to measure the performance of their broadband connections,
including download and upload speeds, network latency, packet
loss and jitter. Apart from users of desktop and notebook
computers, users of smart phones and tablets running iOS
and Android operating systems may also make use of the test

system.

From time to time, we review and upgrade the test system
to further enhance its capability and performance. Currently,
it offers desktop users and users of i0S- and Android-based
mobile devices speed tests of up to 1 000 Mbps and 600 Mbps
respectively.

Chapter 3 Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market

The broadband performance test system was accredited with a
Certificate of Merit under the category of “Best Public Service
Application (Web/Mobile Application) Award” in the “Hong
Kong ICT Awards 2013". From service launch to March 2018,

more than 79 million tests were performed under the system.

Continued Efforts to Facilitate the
Implementation of Self-regulatory
Measures

Enhancement of the Industry Code of
Practice for Telecommunications Service
Contracts

In order to provide guidelines for the industry in drawing up
telecommunications service contracts with a view to improving
transparency in the contracting process and increasing customer
satisfaction, the CAHK, an industry association, promulgated
a self-regulatory Industry Code in December 2010, which was
implemented by all major fixed and mobile network operators
starting from July 2011.

Having regard to the implementation experience and
consumers’ feedback, OFCA made a number of suggestions
to CAHK to further enhance the Industry Code. CAHK revised
the Industry Code in October 2014 following discussions with
participating operators. The revised Industry Code took effect
on 1 May 2015.

Since the implementation of the Industry Code in July 2011, the
number of complaints related to service contract disputes has
been decreasing continuously, from 1 277 cases in 2011 to 419

cases in 2017, representing a drop of 67% in six years.
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Publications of the Service Termination
Arrangements of Residential Broadband
Service Providers

To enhance service information transparency and to better
inform consumers, OFCA has since November 2016 published
on its website details of the arrangements adopted by major
residential broadband service providers to handle service
termination requests from consumers. Information published
covers the advance notice requirement, channels for accepting
service termination requests and their relevant formats,
arrangements to acknowledge and to confirm receipt of service
termination requests, and channels for the return of customer
equipment to service providers. The information will enable
consumers to better understand existing practices of different
service providers, which should help reduce disputes over service
termination matters. The information would also go some way
towards facilitating consumers in making informed decisions
on service plans that best suit their needs, by comparing the
existing termination arrangements of different service providers,
thereby encouraging operators to introduce improvements on
an on-going basis. OFCA updates the published information
periodically, and when changes are introduced by service
providers. OFCA will continue to encourage service providers
to review their service termination arrangements with a view to

making further improvements.

Code for the Provision of Chargeable Mobile
Content Services

To safeguard consumer interests and to increase the
transparency of the pricing information related to Mobile
Content Services (“MCS"), OFCA has worked closely with the
industry to draw up the voluntary “Code for the Provision of
Chargeable Mobile Content Services”. Promulgated and put
into effect by CAHK in January 2010, the code governs the
practices of third-party Content Service Providers (“CSPs"”)
in providing MCS and the establishment of an industry self-

regulatory scheme. Under the code, all third-party CSPs are
required to indicate clearly to their customers the chargeable
nature of the services and to obtain their clear consent before
initiating the delivery and provision of MCS. They are also
required to set out clearly the unsubscribing mechanism, which

should be simple and convenient.

Since the adoption of the code in January 2010, OFCA has
been closely monitoring its effectiveness, and noted a continued
decrease in the number of related complaints, which has

remained at a low level.

In light of past experiences and latest market situation, as
well as the persistently low level of complaints in recent years,
CAHK, in consultation with the industry and OFCA, streamlined
the self-regulatory arrangements under the code from 1 April
2017 such that mobile network operators would take up a
more prominent role to ensure continued compliance with the
code requirements by CSPs, and the Administrative Agency set
up under CAHK for handling matters related to the code ceased

operation from 1 April 2017.

Despite the adoption of the streamlined arrangements under
the revised code, all the measures in respect of safeguarding
consumer interests and provision of transparent pricing
information related to MCS by CSPs remain the same in the

revised code.

In 2017/18, only two complaints about MCS were received,
reflecting the general compliance of CSPs with the voluntary

code and satisfaction of customers with the MCS.

Code of Practice in Relation to Billing
Information and Payment Collection for
Telecommunications Services

In October 2011, the CA issued a voluntary code of practice
entitled “Code of Practice in Relation to Billing and Payment

Collection for Telecommunications Services”, with a view to

Chapter 3 Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market
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reducing billing disputes and enhancing the transparency of
billing information. This code of practice provides guidance
to telecommunications operators on chargeable items to be
included in their bills, and arrangements for payment collection.
As at March 2018, seven local fixed network operators and
four mobile network operators had pledged compliance with
the code. We have published on our website a consumer alert
as well as a summary of the compliance status of all operators
for the information of consumers. We will continue to closely
monitor the implementation and effectiveness of this code of

practice.

Customer Complaint Settlement Scheme

The voluntary Customer Complaint Settlement Scheme
("CCSS") helps resolve billing disputes in deadlock between
telecommunications service providers and their residential /
personal customers by means of mediation. The mediation
service is provided by an independent mediation service
centre (“CCSS Centre”) set up under CAHK with voluntary
participation of all major telecommunications service providers
in Hong Kong. OFCA supports the CCSS by contributing the
necessary funding, vetting the CCSS applications against the
acceptance criteria, and monitoring the performance and the

governance of the scheme.

Chapter 3 Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market

There were 82 eligible applications in 2017/18, 42 of which
were resolved before referral to the CCSS Centre, 36 were
satisfactorily settled upon referral to the CCSS Centre, and four

cases were not settled after mediation.

To raise public awareness of the CCSS, a series of publicity
activities were conducted, including publication of comic strips
on newspapers, featured posts on social media platform and
website banner advertisements, as well as roving exhibitions
and public seminars. OFCA will continue to support the CCSS

and monitor its effectiveness.
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Handling of and Investigations

into Competition Complaints in the
Telecommunications and Broadcasting
Sectors and Merger & Acquisition Cases
in the Telecommunication Sector

The Competition Ordinance provides for a cross-sectoral
competition law prohibiting anti-competitive conduct in all
sectors. Under the Competition Ordinance, the CA is conferred
concurrent jurisdiction with the Competition Commission to
enforce the Competition Ordinance in respect of the conduct
of undertakings operating in the telecommunications and
broadcasting sectors, including merger and acquisition activities

involving carrier licensees in the telecommunications sector.

Pursuant to the memorandum of understanding (“MoU")
signed by the CA and the Competition Commission, the CA
will ordinarily assume the role of the lead authority for matters
falling within the concurrent jurisdiction. For matters involving
issues that are partly within and partly outside the concurrent
jurisdiction, the CA and the Competition Commission will discuss
and agree on how best to process the matter on a case-by-case

basis.

From 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018, a total of 43 complaints
and/or enquiries were received under the Competition Ordinance,
with 41 cases closed without the need for further actions and
two cases under processing. During the year, we also assisted the
CA in reviewing two transactions under the merger rule of the
Competition Ordinance, and no further action was considered

necessary in respect of these transactions.

Following the ruling of the Court of First Instance on TVB's
JR against the appeal mechanism under the BO and the CAs
decision on a complaint relating to TVB's alleged violation of
the competition provisions under the BO in January 2016, the
CA filed in February 2016 its Notice of Appeal to the Court
of Appeal. We continued to assist the CA in conducting the
necessary preparatory work for the appeal.

Handling of and Investigations

into Complaints about Unfair Trade
Practices in the Telecommunications
and Broadcasting Sectors

The fair trading sections of the Trade Descriptions Ordinance
("TDO") prohibit certain specified unfair trade practices by
traders in the provision of goods and services to consumers.

The CA is conferred concurrent jurisdiction with the Customs
and Excise Department to enforce the fair trading sections of
the TDO in relation to the commercial practices of licensees
under the TO and the BO directly connected with the provision
of telecommunications and broadcasting services. The two
enforcement agencies have entered into an MoU to co-ordinate
the performance of their functions under the fair trading sections
of the TDO and have issued a set of enforcement guidelines to
provide guidance for traders and consumers as to the operation

of the fair trading sections.

From 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018, OFCA handled a total of
429 complaints under the TDO. Of these cases, 353 were closed
due to insufficient evidence to suspect/establish a contravention,
or because they fell outside the scope of the TDO; 26 cases
were closed after the CA issued advisory letters to the licensees
concerned to bring to their attention the subject matter and
advise them of the need to improve their relevant commercial
practices in relation to the sale, supply or promotion of
telecommunications or broadcasting services to consumers; and

the remaining 50 cases were under processing at various stages.

Enforcement of the Unsolicited
Electronic Messages Ordinance

Do-not-call Registers

We have established three Do-Not-Call (“DNC") Registers for
facsimile messages, short messages and pre-recorded telephone

messages under the Unsolicited Electronic Messages Ordinance

Chapter 4 Facilitating Market Competition and Strengthening Consumer Protection
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OFCA organises the “Smart Use of Communications Services” consumer education campaign every year to
enhance public awareness of how to use communications services smartly.
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("UEMO"). Commercial electronic messages (“CEMSs"”) must not
be sent to registered numbers unless the senders have obtained
consent from the registered users. By March 2018, more than 2.8
million numbers were registered with these three DNC Registers.
Apart from not sending CEMs to the registered users of the DNC
Registers, senders of CEMs are also required under the UEMO to
comply with a number of rules. For example, they must provide
the recipients with their contact information and an “unsubscribe
facility” in their CEMs so that the recipients can approach the

senders concerned and unsubscribe from receiving their CEMs.

In 2017/18, a total of 677 reports in relation to suspected
contraventions of the UEMO were received, a reduction of about
16% from that of the previous year. We will continue to monitor
the compliance situation on various platforms and streamline the

procedures for more effective enforcement.

Enforcement

If the number of reports received against a sender is below a
certain threshold, we will issue an advisory letter reminding
the sender to observe the requirements under the UEMO. If
the number of reports received against a sender exceeds the
threshold, or if we continue to receive reports against the same
sender after the issuance of an advisory letter, we will conduct
a formal investigation and may issue a warning letter to that
sender. In 2017/18, a total of 198 advisory letters and 41

warning letters were issued.

In the event of repeated contraventions by the senders of CEMs,
we may issue enforcement notices in accordance with section
38 of the UEMO, directing the senders to take steps to remedy
the contraventions. Anyone who fails to comply with the
enforcement notice may be liable to a fine up to $100,000 on

first conviction.

Consumer Education Programmes

To sustain our effort in enhancing public awareness of smart

use of communications services, we organised the annual

Chapter 4 Facilitating Market Competition and Strengthening Consumer Protection

Consumer Education Campaign from August 2017 to March
2018. During the Campaign, a total of six roving exhibitions
were held in different districts across the territory to disseminate
useful consumer messages through informative display panels,
interesting games and short videos. Four public seminars were
organised in collaboration with an industry association to educate
the public on the safe use of communications services. In order
to reach different community groups, 17 mini exhibitions were
held at public libraries and schools, and 15 community talks
were held at social service centres and elderly centres. In view of
the growing public concern over radiation safety of radio base
stations for mobile services, three large-scale community talks
were held from January to March 2018. Drama performances
were staged at 28 primary and secondary schools to educate
students on proper use of smartphones. Other activities,
including the publication of a series of printed advertorials in the
form of comic strips and a Facebook Post Creation Competition,
were organised to maximise the exposure of our educational
messages. To further facilitate our communication with the
public, updated consumer messages and first-hand information
about the programmes and activities of the Consumer Education

Campaign were published regularly on the Facebook Fan page

“Communication Master ¢ OFCA".

A ABVATHRSEAEREELNEFNR2BRTEL  BR
Rl BN 2018F 1 AR3 A BB M Y =155 B RE
A BB E °
In view of the growing public concerns over radiation safety of
radio base stations for mobile communications, OFCA organised
three community talks on this topic between January and March
2018.
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OFCA regularly exchanges views and experience on the regulatory matters with its counterparts.
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Participation in International and
Regional Conferences

OFCA participates actively in the activities of, and maintains
close contact with, a number of international and regional
organisations, either as an independent member of those

organisations or as part of the Chinese delegation.

In 2017/18, we attended a total of 18 conferences/meetings
held by regional and international organisations, including
the ITU, Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (“APEC”), Asia
Pacific Telecommunity (“APT"), International Institute of
Communications (“IIC") and Unsolicited Communications
Enforcement Network. The more significant events of the
year were the ITU Global Symposium for Regulators, ITU
Telecom World, the General Assembly of the APT and the
IIC International Regulators Forum. We will continue to
participate in the activities of the ITU, APEC and APT with the
aim of improving the telecommunications and information

infrastructure in the Asia-Pacific region.

Exchanges with Mainland China and
Overseas Authorities

In 2017/18, we received three delegations from the Mainland
and overseas, and exchanged views and experiences with them
on various issues relating to communications services. They
included a delegation from the Shanghai Radio Administration
Bureau of Mainland China, a delegation from the Infocomm
Media Development Authority of Singapore and a joint
delegation from the Bureau of Radio Regulation of the Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology, the State Radio
Spectrum Management Center and Aerospace Dongfanghong
Spacesat Co. Ltd of Mainland China.

During the year, we attended meetings in Shenzhen with

the Bureau of Radio Regulation of the Ministry of Industry

and Information Technology, the Economic and Information
Commission of Guangdong Province and the Shenzhen Radio
Administration Bureau of Mainland China, as well as meetings
in Shenzhen and Beijing with the then State Administration of
Press, Publication, Radio, Film and Television of Mainland China.
We also had annual bilateral meetings in Guangdong and
Macao with the Guangdong Communications Administration
of Mainland China and Macao Post and Telecommunications

Bureau of Macao respectively.

Media and Community Relations

We proactively keep the public and the media informed
of our work. In 2017/18, we issued 29 press releases on
the CA's major decisions in relation to broadcasting and
telecommunications regulatory issues and OFCA's major
initiatives, operations and events. The speeches and
presentations made by the Director-General of Communications
at public events and industry conferences are also published on
our website. These measures help disseminate our messages
to both the industry and the public, and enable them to gain a

better understanding of our work.

Public Education and Communications

In 2017/18, we gave eight talks concerning broadcasting
services in Hong Kong to students of five primary schools,
one secondary school and one university; and four talks to
participants of the Community Involvement Broadcasting
Service (“CIBS"”). The primary and secondary students were
briefed on the different categories of television programme
services in Hong Kong and how audiences could make informed
viewing choices. The university students were briefed on the
regulation of television and sound broadcasting services. The
participants of CIBS were briefed on the programme standards

of radio services.

Chapter 5 External and Community Relations
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Promotion Day” to actively promote the effective communication
means in country parks in case of emergency.
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Participation in Communications
Activities

OFCA continued to participate in the annual “Mountaineering
Safety Promotion Day” jointly organised by the Civil Aid Service
and 17 other government departments and organisations
in October 2017 in Wan Chai. With the aim of promoting
hiking safety, OFCA set up an exhibition booth at the event
and delivered a talk to visitors to promote effective means of

communication in country parks.

OFCA has been supporting the industry’s activities. In 2017/18,
we sponsored the World Telecommunication and Information
Society Day Hong Kong 2018, an annual activity organised by
the CAHK to promote the latest developments in information
and communications technology industries to the public,

especially the youth and academic communities.

The Work of Advisory Committees

Telecommunications Advisory Committees

Three advisory committees — the Telecommunications
Regulatory Affairs Advisory Committee, the Radio Spectrum
and Technical Standards Advisory Committee, and the
Telecommunications Users and Consumers Advisory Committee
— were established under OFCA in June 2012. These
committees provide a regular and formal channel for the
industry, telecommunications service users and interested
parties to advise OFCA on the formulation and implementation
of various telecommunications regulatory measures and

policies.

Members of the advisory committees are drawn from
different sectors of the telecommunications industry, relevant
government departments, non-governmental organisations,
as well as general public. This helps provide a balanced
representation of views on, at times, highly technical and

complex issues. The term of appointment is two years.

The membership lists of the three advisory committees as at
31 March 2018 are at Appendix B.

Television and Radio Consultative Scheme

The role of the Television and Radio Consultative Scheme
(“TRCS") is to provide qualitative input on television and radio
programming to the CA's public consultation process. Members
are drawn from 18 districts of the territory. In 2017/18,
OFCA invited members of the TRCS to give their views on
the review of the regulations governing indirect advertising
and advertisements for undertakers and associated services
during the public consultation. Members were also invited to
participate in focus group discussions to provide more in-depth

views on the subjects.

Chapter 5 External and Community Relations
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Every year, OFCA organises diverse recreational activities for staff members on a regular basis in order to promote a better balance between work

and life and to cultivate stronger ties among colleagues.
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An Energetic and Versatile Workforce

To provide professional support to the CA in the fast-changing
and ever-advancing environment of the communications
industry, we adopt a pro-active, forward-looking and integrated
approach to human resource management and strategic
manpower planning. Organisational reviews are conducted
regularly to ensure the most effective and efficient use of

available manpower resources.

There were 454 staff as at 31 March 2018, comprising 329 civil
servants and 125 staff employed on non-civil service contract

terms.

Training and Development

We attach great importance to the training and development
of our staff members and strive to enhance their professional
knowledge and capabilities to deal with the challenges posed
by the rapidly evolving environment, such as emerging new
technologies, increasing public demands and internal driving

forces arising from various initiatives.

A Training and Development Committee has been established
to oversee the implementation of OFCA’s training and
development policies for departmental officers in order to have
a holistic view on the training needs of staff and to strengthen

arrangements for grooming officers with strong potentials.

A variety of vocational and managerial courses and in-house
training programmes were conducted in 2017/18. They
included courses on competition law, law enforcement,
prosecution and investigation skills, information and
communications technology, management and leadership,
team building, performance management, languages,
communications, complaint handling, integrity management,
occupational safety, emotional and physical wellness and
national studies. We arranged overseas management
programmes for senior staff to broaden their exposure

and prepare them for challenges ahead. We continued to

sponsor staff members on courses organised by international
organisations and overseas institutions, such as those provided
by King's College London, to enhance their technical and
professional skills. We also engaged overseas experts on
competition economics to conduct seminars for staff whose
work involved the Competition Ordinance. The trainee count
for the year was 801 and the training man-day count was
787. During the period, we participated in the Civil Service
Exchange Programme with the Mainland to enhance mutual
understanding of the two systems and developments of the

two places.

OFCA continued to be accredited as a Manpower Developer
by the “Employee Retraining Board” for its outstanding

achievements in manpower training and development.

Awards and Commendations

In 2017/18, 17 OFCA staff members received the Director-
General's Commendation for Meritorious Service, 13 received
the Director-General's Commendation for Long and Valuable
Service, 24 received the Long and Meritorious Service Award,
and four received the Long and Meritorious Service Travel
Award.

Recreational Activities and Volunteer
Services

To help our staff members develop a healthy lifestyle and to
foster a greater sense of belonging with their co-workers, we
regularly organise staff recreational activities, including outings,
luncheon talks, sports activities and an annual departmental
dinner gathering. Our staff members also participated in the
Corporate Games 2018 organised by the Leisure and Cultural
Services Department. To show our care for the community, we
regularly participate in a number of volunteering and charity
events. We have been awarded the “Caring Organisation” logo
by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service every year since
2007.

Chapter 6 Human Resource Management
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Financial Results 2017/18

. 2017/18 was a challenging year for the OFCA Trading Fund. The profit

for the year fell to HK$40.9 million from HK$72.0 million in 2016/17".
The rate of return on average net fixed assets (“ANFA") decreased
to 11.9% from 22.3% a year before. This was primarily the result of
decreased revenue and increased operating expenditure, partly offset
by a decrease in ANFA.

. The total revenue at HK$476.2 million was lower than the amount of

HK$491.3 million last year due to decrease in revenue from licence fees

and interest income from the placement with the Exchange Fund.

. On the expenditure side, the total expenditure rose by 3.8% to

HK$435.3 million in 2017/18 mainly due to increase in staff costs and

administrative expenses.

. Looking ahead, we are optimistic that the communications sector

in Hong Kong will remain vibrant and dynamic. With solid financial
fundamentals and a dedicated and professional team in OFCA, we are

well placed to face the challenges in the coming year.

* H2017812A270E - EEESRAMBNZNEENER - ALt 2016 M7EENLRBA (B17,2008%7T) REFIRF -
Since the Fund is no longer required to pay notional profits tax to the Government with effect from 27 December 2017, the comparative profit for
2016/17 (i.e. HK$72.0 million) is the profit before tax.

43 EERw—N:1e
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IS ¢ Highlights of the financial performance:
2017/18 2016/17
BEAT BEETT
HK$'m HKS'm
WA Revenue 476.2 491.3
H Expenditure 435.3 4193
BRI&R Pre-tax profit 40.9 72.0
BREE Proposed dividend 0.0 59.8
EEE ETVFERR Return on ANFA 11.9% 22.3%
IZ A Revenue

H2BBE Licence fees
87.9% (87.1 %)

BR¥EE Service charges
5.9% (5.9%)

\ FIBULA Interest income
! 5.1% (6.3%)

I8 Miscellaneous
1.1% (0.7%)

X Expenditure

#3E Operation
15.0 % (12.9 %)

BT Sstaff
81.3 % (83.2 %)

HTE RS Depreciation & amortisation
\ 3.1% (3.4%)

\ 8RS Consultancy
0.6% (0.5 %)

* FESRINA2016 T EEBT
In parentheses are 2016/17 figures
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Report of the Director of Audit

Audit Commission
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

Independent Auditor's Report
To the Legislative Council

Opinion

| certify that | have examined and audited the financial statements of the
Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund set out on pages 49
to 82, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March
2018, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes
in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting

policies.

In my opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Office of the Communications Authority Trading
Fund as at 31 March 2018, and of its results of operations and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the manner provided in section 7(4) of the Trading Funds Ordinance
(Cap. 430).

Basis for opinion

| conducted my audit in accordance with section 7(5) of the Trading
Funds Ordinance and the Audit Commission auditing standards. My
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of my
report. | am independent of the Office of the Communications Authority
Trading Fund in accordance with those standards, and | have fulfilled my
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those standards. | believe
that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for my opinion.
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Report of the Director of Audit

Responsibilities of the General Manager, Office
of the Communications Authority Trading Fund
for the financial statements

The General Manager, Office of the Communications Authority Trading
Fund is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and section 7(4) of the Trading Funds Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the General Manager, Office of the Communications Authority
Trading Fund determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud

or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the General Manager, Office of the
Communications Authority Trading Fund is responsible for assessing the
Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
the Audit Commission auditing standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these financial statements.
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BirEERWME Report of the Director of Audit

ERERT BRI EAPETRIERD » e As part of an audit in accordance with the Audit Commission auditing
BREEXENE RIS EEEREE  c RIE standards, | exercise professional judgment and maintain professional

47
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FLE BIESIR

skepticism throughout the audit. | also:

— identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

— obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Office of the Communications Authority

Trading Fund’s internal control;

— evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the General Manager, Office of the Communications
Authority Trading Fund;
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Report of the Director of Audit

— conclude on the appropriateness of the General Manager, Office
of the Communications Authority Trading Fund’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Office of the
Communications Authority Trading Fund’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If | conclude that a material uncertainty exists, |
am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Office of the
Communications Authority Trading Fund to cease to continue as a

going concern; and

— evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

K onmsty

Kenneth Ho
Assistant Director of Audit
for Director of Audit

BiTE Audit Commission
EEBFELTIETS 26" Floor, Immigration Tower
ANBEBEKE261E 7 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
201898 24H 24 September 2018
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HiffER < Financial Statements

2HERT Statement of Comprehensive Income

#HZE20185F3A831HLEE for the year ended 31 March 2018

(LUBHEF (25T ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

,ETJLOEé 2018 2017

—F £ Turnover 3 447,129 457,442
BIERA Operating costs 4 (435,287) (419,303)
EERF Profit from operations 11,842 38,139
Hig A Other income 5 29,096 33,819
ZEFESHRIBRF Profit before notional profits tax 40,938 71,958
ZEMNER Notional profits tax 6 = (12,123)
FEEN Profit for the year 40,938 59,835
Hih 2w Other comprehensive income = -
FEEZENE Total comprehensive income for the year 40,938 59,835
EEZEEEHREK Rate of return on fixed assets 7 11.9% 22.3%

$53E82 8N FEAARMEHREZRAI—E5 The notes on pages 53 to 82 form part of these financial statements.
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BAFF R = Financial Statements
BBk R T Statement of Financial Position
2018%3H831H as at 31 March 2018
(LB FTuBR) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
My EE
Note 2018 2017
ERBEE Non-current assets
M2~ B REBRM Property, plant and equipment 8 134,783 141,918
| EE Intangible assets 9 1,562 2,528
INEE B FR Placement with the Exchange Fund 10 487,880 480,000
624,225 624,446
MENEE Current assets
FEUIR SR « & MTBI3IE  Debtors, deposits and advance payments 11 3,445 18,871
FEWAMERE S TAIE Interest receivable from placement with the
Exchange Fund 5,534 6,242
HihEWR B Other interest receivable 711 702
SMNERESTER Placement with the Exchange Fund 10 - 424,166
WITHER Bank deposits 713,500 225,900
e MIRITHER Cash and bank balances 3,218 3,277
726,408 679,158
mEBRE Current liabilities
FERET M ESTE A Creditors and accruals 17,832 36,252
EERFEE Provision for employee benefits 13 9,324 8,596
FEATBEZE A TIRFR Amounts due to related parties 21 29,525 27,519
EIEW N Deferred income 14 203,097 171,887
ET 2 EFIBF Notional profits tax payable - 6,436
259,778 250,690
MENEEFE Net current assets 466,630 428,468
BREEREREAER Total assets less current liabilities 1,090,855 1,052,914
ERENEE Non-current liabilities
IRIERE TR Deferred tax 12 - 473
BERTEE Provision for employee benefits 13 87,517 90,041
87,517 90,514
FEE NET ASSETS 1,003,338 962,400
B AR CAPITAL AND RESERVES
BEEESER Trading fund capital 15 212,400 212,400
BEGHE Development reserve 16 690,165 690,165
REBEF Retained earnings 17 100,773 -
RS Proposed dividend 18 - 59,835
1,003,338 962,400

;T— — F 4
—_— a-f Gk _;'i\_’@:‘_{\_?/—

EFXF Agnes Wong -~

BRAEHEERMRAE General Manager,

LEEDRKE Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund
2018598 24H 24 September 2018

$53E2 BRI EIRFZA—EBS ©  The notes on pages 53 to 82 form part of these financial statements.
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EmEEx Statement of Changes in Equity

B ZE2018F3A31HLEE for the year ended 31 March 2018

(LB F Tl 5R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
FHREER Balance at beginning of year 962,400 966,329
FEMRSEKES Total comprehensive income for the year 40,938 59,835
FAENKE Dividend paid during the year = (63,764)
FIRGEER Balance at end of year 1,003,338 962,400

E53E BN AARTHREN—EED o The notes on pages 53 to 82 form part of these financial statements.

FLE BIESIR



2 O-I 7 /—l TRHDIHG Fﬂ%\gli;:O?

VR EES

Financial Statements

HERER Statement of Cash Flows
BE2018F3A31HILLFE for the year ended 31 March 2018
(LUEBBEFTlIZR) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
MY EE
Note 2018 2017
EEHBZRERE Cash flows from operating activities
BIERR Profit from operations 11,842 38,139
HIFUT A Sundry income 206 2,941
HE G~ RIBK Loss on disposal of property, plant and
BRMREE equipment 20 2
M RIBNBMITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12,382 13,272
B EEEE Amortisation of intangible assets 995 1,217
J’ELBUUE RS NFEMFIE  Decrease / (Increase) in debtors, deposits and
/J\/ (#40) advance payments 15,426 (16,163)
WEHFDE AN EEtE R (Decrease) / Increase in creditors and accruals
CRA) 3810 (22,320) 13,982
FETERE A LIRERIE N Increase in amounts due to related parties 2,006 555
IRFEWASE BN Increase in deferred income 31,210 10,841
BEEANBE CGBL) (Decrease) / Increase in provision for
N employee benefits (1,796) 712
B2 EREF Notional profits tax paid (2,197) (13,881)
S EEBREBREFE Net cash from operating activities 47,774 51,617
REBFEZRERE Cash flows from investing activities
NIEESETURLD Decrease / (Increase) in placement with the
(#2n) Exchange Fund 416,286 (28,885)
BEHRA=EALI LM  (ncease)/ Decrease in bank deposits with
1T=EH (th[]) SR original maturities over three months (497,100) 20,000
BEWE [ERSFMR Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Eigi A F and intangible assets (1,393) (5,758)
Hf%/?ﬁ%%ﬁ s BEXFEM  (Expenses for) / Net proceeds from disposal of
(FTgBEx) Fie3iss property, plant and equipment 3) 18
BRI E Interest received 24,877 31,630
hélﬁﬁ (FTR) Fifg Net cash (used in) / from investing activities
REFH (57,333) 17,005
MEFEEZRERE Cash flows from financing activity
ERE Dividend paid - (63,764)
MEBBFAREFE Net cash used in financing activity - (63,764)
REeERZERBFSH Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash
(L) EmEsE equivalents (9,559) 4,858
FONRERERRAE Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year 21,277 16,419
FRPVREEEFERE Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 19 11,718 21,277

E53EEMMEARTEMEAM—EED o The notes on pages 53 to 82 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)
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General

The Office of the Telecommunications Authority (OFTA) Trading
Fund was established on 1 June 1995 under the Legislative Council
Resolution passed on 10 May 1995 pursuant to sections 3, 4 and
6 of the Trading Funds Ordinance (Cap. 430). By virtue of section
25 of the Communications Authority Ordinance (CAO) (Cap. 616)
which came into operation on 1 April 2012, the OFTA Trading Fund
was renamed as the Office of the Communications Authority (OFCA)
Trading Fund (the Fund) on the same date. The OFCA serves as the
executive arm of the Communications Authority (CA), which is a
statutory body set up under the CAO to administer and enforce the
Broadcasting Ordinance (Cap. 562), the Broadcasting (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 391), the CAO, the Telecommunications
Ordinance (Cap. 106) and the Unsolicited Electronic Messages
Ordinance (UEMO) (Cap. 593), and to perform any function under
or by virtue of any Ordinance. The Fund, which is under the policy
portfolio of the Commerce and Economic Development Bureau of
the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the
Government), supports the principal activities of the CA, as follows:

(@) licensing and regulating telecommunications services and
broadcasting services;

(b) managing Hong Kong's radio frequency spectrum;

(©) providing advisory, planning and support services on
telecommunications, broadcasting, anti-spamming matters to
the Government;

(d) overseeing technical standards and representing the Government
on international affairs;

(e) enforcing the UEMO; and

(f) ensuring the enforcement of fair trading practices and fair
competition in relation to telecommunications and broadcasting
sectors.
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Significant accounting policies

(@)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRSs),
a collective term which includes all applicable individual HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (HKASs) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(HKICPA). A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Fund is set out below.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is historical cost.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis for making judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Chapter 7 Financial Results
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

(9]

There are no critical accounting judgements involved in the
application of the Fund's accounting policies. There are also no
key assumptions concerning the future, or other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next year.

Fixed assets

The fixed assets appropriated to the Fund on 1 June 1995 were
measured initially at deemed cost equal to the value contained
in the Resolution of the Legislative Council passed on 10 May
1995. Fixed assets acquired since 1 June 1995 are capitalised at
the actual costs of acquisition or installation.

(i) Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses (note 2(d)):

- land classified as held under a finance lease and building
held for own use situated thereon; and

- plant and equipment, including telecommunications and
broadcasting equipment, computer systems, furniture,
fixtures and motor vehicles.
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B4 FE SRR M 5E Notes to the Financial Statements
(BR¥FBIRLEES) » BT 2889 LUBHEF i ) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)
2. FEEHKE () 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(o0 BEEEE (/&) (c) Fixed assets (continued)
(i) %% - fek=_t (/) (i) Property, plant and equipment (continued)
NESIRBRYE  LEREM Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
B EET e E R AL - EREEM property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
HRESE B EG RS ER value, on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
AE - BENAIERESROT ¢ lives as follows:
- WHAEBSE RAENRSRE - Land classified as held over the unexpired term
HEMTH HHE under a finance lease of lease
- URHEEL RESKESE - Buildings situated on over the shorter of the
WHEE HBAARERSE leasehold land unexpired term of lease
B gy B and their useful lives
REE
- R SZE124F - Equipment 5to 12 years
- BSES 5E - Computer systems 5 years
- FENKEE 54 - Furniture and fixtures 5 years
- EHf 54 - Motor vehicles 5 years
e TSN ~ RN SR Gains or losses arising from the disposal of property, plant
EAMBREUEEREEREH and equipment are determined as the difference between
EEROETZERETE TR the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
HeE s AR ENEER asset and are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
FESR o income on the date of disposal.
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(9]

(d)

Fixed assets (continued)
(i) Intangible assets

Intangible assets include acquired computer software
licences and capitalised development costs of computer
software programs. Expenditure on development of
computer software programs is capitalised if the programs
are technically feasible and the Fund has sufficient resources
and intention to complete development. The expenditure
capitalised includes direct labour and cost of materials.
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses (note 2(d)).

Amortisation of intangible assets is charged to the statement
of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives of 5 to 12 years.

Impairment of fixed assets

The carrying amounts of fixed assets, including property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets, are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period to identify any indication of impairment.

If any such indication exists, an impairment loss is recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income whenever the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value
less costs to sell and value in use.
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities

(i)

(ii)

Initial recognition

The Fund classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities
into different categories at inception, depending on the
purpose for which the assets were acquired or the liabilities
were incurred. The categories are loans and receivables,
and other financial liabilities.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured initially
at fair value, which normally equals to the transaction prices
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets or issue of the financial
liabilities.

The Fund recognises financial assets and financial liabilities
on the date it becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

Categorisation
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market and which the Fund has no intention of
trading. This category includes debtors, interest receivable,
placement with the Exchange Fund, bank deposits and cash
and bank balances.

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less impairment losses, if any
(note 2(e)(iv)).
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EERERSEE
TRADING FURD-REPORT




Btk 3

Financial Results

Financial Statements

IR SRS
BTSRRI

(BR1FRIEEEAS} » AR e £ ER5LUBHEF TSR © )

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

2. FEEEBE (F)
() SMAENLMAME ()

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(i) Categorisation (continued)

(i) D%E (%)

59
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(iii)

Loans and receivables (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability
and of allocating the interest income or interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
or payments through the expected life of the financial
instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial
liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the
Fund estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms
of the financial instruments but does not consider future
credit losses. The calculation includes all fees received or
paid between parties to the contract that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all
other premiums or discounts.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights
to receive the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or
where the financial asset together with substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled, or when
it expires.
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2. FESHHEE (&) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) £HMEEHSHERG (/&) (e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(iv) 2 EENRE (iv) Impairment of financial assets

EE N EKEE R ENEE The carrying amounts of loans and receivables are reviewed
SREHERAETIE - NER at the end of each reporting period. An impairment loss
SRS ERE FEmR is recognised when there is objective evidence that an
BEEE - BIESBLIEENER asset is impaired. The amount of the loss is measured
HEEREERKRSEAXRAERL as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
BEARiEETARESTREN and the present value of estimated future cash flows
REZENELRESTE - EAEE discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.
EEHEE R NER » WK Any impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss and
WS Rk o EiREEENEAN reflected in an allowance account. If in a subsequent
HEEA c MR FEEEEE period, the amount of such impairment loss decreases and
EREBENEHMEE 0 BliTE the decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring
HRNELHEE BLEESAAS after the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment
BWEERKE WO EE  BES loss is reversed through the profit or loss. When the Fund
SRR ISy o considers that there are no realistic prospects of recovery of

the asset, the relevant amounts are written off.

(f) BEFER (f) Notional profits tax

B (BBRIEAY (F112%) The Fund has no tax liability under the Inland Revenue

EEHESWEMBEE - A8 & Ordinance (Cap. 112). However, prior to 27 December

2017412827281 » BFERE 2017, the Government had required the Fund to pay to the

BEESRABNZN—EZHBLIARERN Government an amount in lieu of profits tax (i.e. notional profits

B (BIZEFER) @ MxIER tax) calculated on the basis of the provisions of the Inland

B (RBIEA)) BIESGRESE - Revenue Ordinance. The accounting policies adopted by the

DT EEERES T2 5= 1B T BT ik Fund for notional profits tax were as follows:

YR B |

() EFEL2E=MNEH T EBERNE (i) Notional profits tax expense for the year comprised current
ME R EEFR S EEREEN tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
28 -
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

()

Notional profits tax (continued)

(if)

(iif)

Current tax was the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arose from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arose from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

All deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it was probable that future taxable profits would
be available against which the assets could be utilised, were
recognised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised was measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement
of the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities were not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset was reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and was reduced to the
extent that it was no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit would be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such deduction was reversed to the extent
that it became probable that sufficient taxable profit would
be available.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

()

(9)

(h)

Notional profits tax (continued)

However, the Fund is no longer required to pay notional profits
tax with effect from 27 December 2017. The balance of notional
profits tax payable and the balance of deferred tax liabilities as at
27 December 2017 was derecognised, with the corresponding
income recognised in the statement of comprehensive income (see
notes 5, 6 and 12).

Revenue recognition

Licence fees received are credited to deferred income and
amortised to profit and loss over the validity period of the
licences. Service income is recognised when services have been
provided. Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Other income is recognised on an accrual basis.
Employee benefits

The employees of the Fund comprise civil servants and contract
staff. Salaries, staff gratuities, and annual leave entitlements are
accrued and recognised as expenditure in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by the staff. For civil servants,
staff on-costs, including pensions and housing benefits provided
to the staff by the Government, are charged as expenditure in the
year in which the associated services are rendered.

For civil servants employed on pensionable terms, their pension
liabilities are discharged by reimbursement of the staff on-cost
charged by the Government. For other staff, contributions
to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are charged to the

statement of comprehensive income as incurred.
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

)

)

(k)

Related parties

The Fund is a separate accounting entity within the Government
established under the Trading Funds Ordinance. During the
year, the Fund has entered into transactions with various related
parties, including government bureaux and departments,
trading funds and financially autonomous bodies controlled or
significantly influenced by the Government, in the ordinary course

of its business.
Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
into Hong Kong dollars using the spot exchange rates at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
currencies other than Hong Kong dollars are translated into Hong
Kong dollars using the closing exchange rate at the end of the
reporting period. All foreign currency translation differences are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank balances,
and other short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity when placed or acquired.
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(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

)

(m)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when there is a legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made.

Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Impact of new and revised HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period. There have been no changes to the
accounting policies applied in these financial statements for the
years presented as a result of these developments.

The Fund has not applied any new HKFRSs that are not yet
effective for the current accounting period (note 24).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)
3. EX%

2018 2017

3. Turnover

EARRE Telecommunications licence fees
HEEE — 5 Licences — Private 43,625 42,307
hRER — ALt Licences — Public 333,973 330,414
EEEEE Broadcasting licence fees 41,204 55,344
MEEATRERE (M 21)) Services provided to related parties
(note 21(a)) 28,033 29,069
FETETA Miscellaneous revenue 294 308
447,129 457,442
4. EBIERE Operating costs
STEA Staff costs 353,908 348,846
WAE# T A Accommodation costs 19,647 19,060
BIERX Operating expenses 25,278 24,787
THRXZ Administrative expenses 19,671 9,405
FRE Consultancy fees 2,842 2,074
M ~ BB RBVITE Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment 12,382 13,272
W& R Amortisation of intangible assets 995 1,217
FHiTEA Audit fees 564 642
435,287 419,303

FLE BIESIR
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

5. Other income

5. HfthiitA

2018 2017

SELLAHEFINRAIERE BRI S
HNEREFR

RITHER
RITHERR

SHEHFEBAVIE R BB R LIEL R R
aE (ME65k12)

Interest income from financial
assets not at fair value

Placement with the Exchange

Fund 17,645 27,945
Bank deposits 6,532 2,933
Bank balances 1 -

24,178 30,878

Derecognition of notional profits
tax payable and deferred tax

liabilities (notes 6 and 12) 4,712 -
FEIRUA Sundry income 206 2,941
29,096 33,819

ZENEH Notional profits tax

20175 12827HH » BIRERFTEE
BEESABNZNERZMNEREKE - &
20175128278 B ERESE—=ERN
SEESNANABEREFELHR - RIEZX
HIR o B (EEESRG) BREAESTE
SEESNEEREREAERKEREN
EERY REZLMEER -

EEREEZAIRE  BNEXRT MHR
B0 H2017F128278%  FrE2ER
SREMBRZNRENEREEE -
It SEESNMEZE20184F3H31H
HFEEHARNERBE - 20174
12278 » AH423.98 B THNENEZE
FEBIEARE W TSR - MAEBEWAR
EErHEWmERPER (MEE5) o

Prior to 27 December 2017, the Government had required all trading
funds to pay notional profits tax and dividends to the Government.
On 27 December 2017, the Court of Final Appeal handed down its
judgement in a judicial review case concerning the Fund. According
to the judgement, it was an error of law to construe the Trading
Funds Ordinance as permitting the inclusion in budgets of the Fund of
projections for notional tax or dividends.

Subsequent to the judgement, the Government made a change
in financial arrangement whereby all trading funds are no longer
required to pay notional profits tax and dividends to the Government
with effect from 27 December 2017. Accordingly, no notional profits
tax has been provided by the Fund for the year ended 31 March 2018.
The balance of notional profits tax payable as at 27 December 2017
of HK$4,239,000 was derecognised, with corresponding income
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income (note 5).

Chapter 7 Financial Results @
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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6. BERFEH (£)
(a) MEE2017FE3A31HILEEENZE

6. Notional profits tax (continued)

(@ The notional profits tax charged to the statement of

Wi R AR ZEN BT

N GEE
REEZEBNEHAERE
R R AL R El
BEFNEH

(b) BE2017F3A31HEFENHRIEBERS
HESHBRRBERRERTENHIR
(I

BENEHEIRF

REBNEHE16.5%ENHIE
—RBEBHLIR

GIE LRGN Z
FFERBMARIBIAR &
BERIAZ M

[E € & E o) # 3

EEEERREZUERER SR UEE
EEVHFEMENESEX - #2HEK
#ETHAE  AEERNBWAMFEZH
(20174 RBEFEBWA ~ MEZ T
ML EESERNF SNBSS
FER) - BCEEDEYE  KEKSB
Mo DERBVEE - AMBERRERE
AR ERESALIEINSFEEEER
IEOHEAE55% (20175F 1 6.7% ) »°
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comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2017
represented:

Current tax

Provision for notional profits tax for the year 13,026
Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (903)
Notional profits tax 12,123

The reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit
at applicable tax rate for the year ended 31 March 2017 was as

follows:

Profit before notional profits tax 71,958

Tax at Hong Kong profits tax rate of 16.5% 11,873

One-off tax reduction (20)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 754

Tax effect of non-taxable revenue (484)

Notional tax expense 12,123

7. Rate of return on fixed assets

The rate of return on fixed assets was calculated as total

comprehensive income divided by average net fixed assets and

expressed as a percentage. Total comprehensive income is adjusted

by excluding interest income and interest expenses (2017: excluding

interest income, interest expense and notional profits tax on interest

income from placement with the Exchange Fund). Fixed assets include

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. The Fund is

expected to meet a target rate of return on fixed assets of 5.5% per
year (2017: 6.7%) as determined by the Financial Secretary.
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(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

8. IR - ExfEkeEdtd 8.

Property, plant and equipment

TR FAR
BE B ESEER K8 7] HEEE
Land and Equipment Computer  Furniture Motor Total
buildings systems and vehicles
fixtures
A Cost
R20164E481H At 1 April 2016 220,243 54,789 42,665 48,767 4921 371,385
NE Additions - 1,029 842 - 1,871
HEFH Disposals - (321) (525) (63) - (909)
7R20174E3A31H At 31 March 2017 220,243 55,497 42,982 48,704 4,921 372,347
201744818 At 1 April 2017 220,243 55,497 42,982 48,704 4,921 372,347
NE Additions - 3,875 1,088 - 301 5,264
HE FEeH Disposals - (777) (809) (260) (167)  (2,013)
m2018%F3H31H At 31 March 2018 220,243 58,595 43,261 48,444 5,055 375,598
REHINE Accumulated depreciation
R2016F481H At 1 April 2016 89,071 51,002 34,689 39,258 4,042 218,062
FRIE Charge for the year 4,849 969 2,651 4,255 548 13,272
HE 8% Written back on disposal - (321) (525) (59) - (905)
7201743H831H At 31 March 2017 93,920 51,650 36,815 43,454 4,590 230,429
201744818 At 1 April 2017 93,920 51,650 36,815 43,454 4,590 230,429
FRNITE Charge for the year 4,849 994 2,412 3,824 303 12,382
HE Yo Written back on disposal - (777) (799) (253) (167) (1,996)
72018%F3H31H At 31 March 2018 98,769 51,867 38,428 47,025 4,726 240,815
IREFE Net book value
m2018%F3H31H At 31 March 2018 121,474 6,728 4,833 1,419 329 134,783
M201743831H At 31 March 2017 126,323 3,847 6,167 5,250 331 141,918

Chapter 7 Financial Results @



Btk 3

Financial Results

IR SRS
BTSRRI

(BR1FRIEEEAS} » AR e £ ER5LUBHEF TSR © )

Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

9.

Intangible assets

BRI GRERR AR ER
Computer software licences and

system development costs

2018 2017
A Cost
FEH) At beginning of year 13,817 13,550
=Y Additions 29 267
Fi% At end of year 13,846 13,817
REHE Accumulated amortisation
=) At beginning of year 11,289 10,072
FEREH Charge for the year 995 1,217
Fi% At end of year 12,284 11,289
IREFEE Net book value
F At end of year 1,562 2,528

10. S EEBEFK

E7TRBTNIMNEESHERIN2017F58
ZHny > EEESIEFAES, 0008 BITH
AR 0 BEARE - MR T2/52,0008
BTNASHAEEARNAS -

BEfERRA1E8, 788 BT (20174 ¢
9fE416.6&8BT) » HPR4(28,0008 %
TTREAE (20174 1 7E8IT) » 7888
BT (20174 : 2{8416.68%T) AR
HHBERBEARE KIS ©
BRREANF (HEXRBERE) @ BRA
BEIRENAS -

m StE B

10.

Placement with the Exchange Fund

Upon maturity of the placement with the Exchange Fund of
HK$700,000,000 in May 2017, the Fund renewed the placement
with a principal sum of HK$480,000,000 for another six years. The
remaining principal sum of HK$220,000,000 and all interest paid were
withdrawn.

The balance of the placement amounted to HK$487,880,000 (2017:
HK$904,166,000), being the principal sum of HK$480,000,000
(2017: $700,000,000) plus interest paid of HK$7,880,000 (2017:
HK$204,166,000) but not yet withdrawn at the end of the reporting
period. The term of the placement is six years from the date of
placement, during which the amount of principal sum cannot be
withdrawn.
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10. 9'EEEEZ (#E) 10. Placement with the Exchange Fund

(continued)

NEESEDMNERESFE1REETNEE Interest on the placement is payable at a fixed rate determined every
BXREFHE - ZEXRESKREMLGBEN January. The rate is the average annual investment return of the
FREHFERERR  H=FHBUT Exchange Fund’s Investment Portfolio for the past six years or the
BEFEEL—EFENTHFEKS - M average annual yield of three-year Government Bond for the previous
MEFRRSER/E  TIRRB0% ° 20184 year subject to a minimum of zero percent, whichever is the higher.
WEESXREFL6% 2017 HEF The interest rate has been fixed at 4.6% per annum for the year 2018
2.8% o

and at 2.8% per annum for the year 2017.

11. [EYIRFX ~ IRERFEFTRRIA 11. Debtors, deposits and advance payments
2018 2017
FEUIRTR Debtors 7,929 23,189
B BB EBEEER Less: allowance for impairment
loss (5,097) (5,097)
2,832 18,092
e RIENFRIE Deposits and advance payments 613 779
3,445 18,871
FRREBERBEERSST The movement in the allowance for impairment loss during the year
is as follows:
2018 2017
F4) At beginning of year 5,097 5,097
EERBERE Impairment loss recognised = -
FHE At end of year 5,097 5,097
EEESHN —REBVBRRENARTRE Impairment loss was recognised on an amount due from a company
HIERRBEERE - in financial difficulties.

Chapter 7 Financial Results
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12.

13.

14.

15.

Deferred tax

With effect from 27 December 2017, the Fund is no longer
required to pay notional profits tax to the Government (see note
6). Accordingly, the Fund no longer has deferred tax assets or
liabilities. The balance of deferred tax liabilities as at 27 December
2017 of HK$473,000 was derecognised, with corresponding income
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income (note 5).

The movements of deferred tax for the year ended 31 March 2017
were as follows:

Balance at beginning of year 1,376
Credited to statement of comprehensive income (903)
Balance at end of year 473

Provision for employee benefits

This represents the estimated liability for employees’ annual leave
and obligations on contract-end gratuities payable to contract staff
for services rendered up to the end of the reporting period (also see
note 2(h)).

Deferred income

This represents the balance of licence fee income to be amortised
over the remaining validity period of the licences.

Trading fund capital

This represents the Government’s investment in the Fund.
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16. BEGEH 16. Development reserve
548 Th BB E A B B AE [O) 3R {9 37 57 1% This is a reserve serving as a regulating mechanism to meet the target
& MR BB IMBENEE - return as well as to reduce the need for future fee increases.
FHRFHEAEER Balance at beginning and
end of year 690,165 690,165
17. REEH 17. Retained earnings
FHREER Balance at beginning of year - -
FEEDHEHK S Total comprehensive income for
the year 40,938 59,835
BE (4) BErs (BiEE18) Transferred from/(to) proposed
dividend (see note 18) 59,835 (59,835)
FHAERR Balance at end of year 100,773 -
MR2018F3A3 1 HEEMNRERT - B The retained earnings as at 31 March 2018 included the target
BT EEE2018FE3H31HIEMBEEEN returns required by the Government totalling HK$17,814,000
HE > 851,781 48 BTN ER QR for the two years ended 31 March 2018 (see note 7). While the
(RIEE7) - BRECEESIFERER target returns are entrusted to be retained in the Fund, they belong
ZER  RIE (EERESEA) 5 6(6)() to the Government pursuant to section 6(6)(c) of the Trading
% BREREBUIE @ AXEEED Funds Ordinance and are not subject to the Fund’s disposal. The
YE o BNSEEEBERATREETR £ Government will direct the transfer of the sum into general revenue
B 1E (0] 3R #E 0 BUT — AU © when appropriate.

Chapter 7 Financial Results
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18. B2 18. Proposed dividend
R2017E383 1 HABFERNEEEIR The proposed dividend to the Government as at 31 March 2017 was
EHEZH I EENERENE N KR based on the total comprehensive income for the year then ended
ERNERRBEERENEELBEHNIE and the target dividend payout ratio of 100% stated in the annual
B HEHI100% BIERERIEWE o business plan approved by the Secretary for Financial Services and the
Treasury.
201741282781 » L BHSHEAMR With effect from 27 December 2017, the Fund is no longer required
WFRERE (BfsEe) - A 1 to pay dividends to the Government (see note 6). Accordingly,
20174128278 &%5,983.58 5 TH the balance of proposed dividend as at 27 December 2017 of
BRREESDROAEEFR (M HK$59,835,000 was transferred back to the retained earnings (note
17) 17).
19. REREFRIRE 19. Cash and cash equivalents
RS MIRITHER Cash and bank balances 3,218 3,277
RITEK Bank deposits 713,500 225,900
716,718 229,177
B BB HRRA=E A LI ENIRITHER Less: Bank deposits with
original maturities over
three months (705,000) (207,900)
ReEAFRARS Cash and cash equivalents 11,718 21,277

VR =+= EiER
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20. EFRIERAE KR

20. Capital commitments and other commitments

R201853A31H » B EEEHAREEN
BRI ERBNWERFENT ¢

At 31 March 2018, the Fund had capital commitments, so far as not
provided for in the financial statements, as stated below:

2018 2017

EERENEEN
EEREERARRN

Authorised and contracted for 372 -
Authorised but not contracted for 113 4,928
485 4,928

R Y 1ERDE S E ISM G B R R B AR 75
HEFEEEF v EBABRIIRS
& BEBAERE (—EXEREE) N
2012F 1M AR BEERMEN "R
BSFaTEl L (5rEl) o BB 20154
430 EFINREETE  SEESH
RHSERNBR2008BITHEEE
DIt EIREEE - TR SEESER
FTEIIEHE85.58 BT (20174 1 121.08
BIT) o

To help resolve billing disputes in deadlock between
telecommunications service providers and their customers outside
the judicial system, a voluntary Customer Complaint Settlement
Scheme (the scheme) was set up in November 2012 by the
Communications Association of Hong Kong, the industry association.
By a Memorandum of Understanding signed on 30 April 2015, the
Fund will provide recurrent funding for the long term operation of
the scheme in the amount not exceeding HK$2,000,000 per annum.
During the year, the Fund had contributed HK$855,000 to the scheme
(2017: HK$1,210,000).

Chapter 7 Financial Results
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21. BEATHIRS 21. Related party transactions
BEEMBERENSIERENTZI - B Apart from those separately disclosed in the financial statements, the
BEATHEAEEETHNEMEER S other material related party transactions for the year are summarised
BT as follows:
@ MBEATERUEMNBEEEEEE (@) fees income for services provided to related parties included
1,403.28%7C (20174F : 1,524.48 advisory and project services amounting to HK$14,032,000
HBIT) NEEAMKERENKE - (2017: HK$15,244,000) and frequency assignment and
DI #E(E1,400.1 83 7T (20174 ¢ protection services amounting to HK$14,001,000 (2017:
1,382.58 %70 ) MSAEIBRARER HK$13,825,000);
HHWE
(b) EEEEATREMNREBFERATH (b) expenses for services received from related parties included
FEL - REMEE  EeEE b accommodation, repairs and maintenance, legal advice, central
REBRESAPWE L - EEBEESTE administration and auditing. In total, the Fund incurred
LERR # S H12,530.58 #7T (2017 HK$25,305,000 on these services (2017: HK$23,130,000); and

F12,313.08%7T) UK

O MEZATBENECEERAE () fixed assets acquired from related parties included motor

o mUEEEEMEEBEI0NEST vehicles. The total amount of these fixed assets amounted to
(20174 1 &) - HK$301,000 (2017: nil).

HEE A TRtk E A IR ER Services provided by or to related parties were charged at the rates

o EEINAARIRM  BIRAREY payable by the general public where such services were also available

NSRRI E  NZBRERMEBEEALTIR to members of the public, or on a full cost recovery basis where such

o BRI AWE - REgE ALT{tE services were only available to related parties. Fixed assets supplied

WEEBEIRD AN E - by related parties were charged at full cost.

HR2018F3 831 HEEE AT SR M5 Balances with related parties as at 31 March 2018 are set out in the

DEHRBERRER o statement of financial position.

FLE BIESIR
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23.
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& -

B B ETE
(a) BEBUR

RIRHEIMIARIR - REBIRER
ERemTANKREHRS - REMESG
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(b) B2
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JE\Bz o
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22. Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2018, there were several outstanding litigation cases

filed with the court by licensees under the Telecommunications

Ordinance, claiming for restitution of excessive licence fees paid by

them since 1995. The Government intends to vigorously contest

these claims and will be responsible for claims for those amounts

related to notional profits tax and dividends which have been paid

to the Government by the Fund. The Fund considers that, based on

the legal advice obtained, it is less likely that these litigation cases will

result in a material outflow of economic benefits from the Fund.

23. Financial risk management

(a) Investment policy

To provide an ancillary source of income, surplus cash is invested

in a portfolio of financial instruments. The portfolio includes

fixed deposits and placement with the Exchange Fund. It is the

Fund’s policy that all investments in financial instruments should

be principal-protected.

(b) Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows

of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in

currency exchange rates.

The Fund does not have significant exposure to currency risk as

substantially all of its financial instruments are denominated in

Hong Kong dollars.

Chapter 7 Financial Results
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23. Financial risk management (continued)

23. BATEEISETE (45 )

(o) EERME (c) Credit risk

77

FERRESRIAN—FSFEER
REBTEEMSIBE —HAEXYHE
BRER -

LEESNEERAREZBURNER
MRFR ~ SRITHER ~ RITREMRFMINER

LEESTYERBHIRANEER
% o FEWIRFRIA B #Y A U [a] 14 12218 5
B 2EESEEARET
Ry e SRR EES 1R -

REEREEERR  FAAERITHE
HMERERIERN BT BN
SRAT -
ERNEESEH - HEBEERR
R -

LEESHNESRBENESEERR
HMERERSTHERBAXEENIR
& °
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Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will
fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur
a financial loss.

The Fund’s credit risk is primarily attributable to debtors, bank
deposits, bank balances and placement with the Exchange Fund.

The credit risk of debtors is closely monitored by the Fund.
Recoverability of debt items are assessed on an individual
basis and impairment losses are recognised when considered
necessary.

To minimise credit risks, all bank balances and fixed deposits are
placed with licensed banks in Hong Kong.

For the placement with the Exchange Fund, the credit risk is
considered to be low.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of the financial assets of
the Fund is equal to their carrying amounts at the end of the
reporting period.
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23. BITERBSEIR (45 ) 23. Financial risk management (continued)

d) REVE RS (d) Liquidity risk

MEESRRIEKMEEBRTHSHE Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in
EHRENESEERR RN RS - meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.
BIEHSAIBTE I ENIRSHZEN The Fund manages liquidity risk by forecasting the amount of
ERSEBESHRBES @ REER cash required and monitoring the working capital of the Fund to
BESRE > BEATLUENFTEZRIE ensure that all liabilities due and known funding requirements
EENCHMNESER - HRNLER could be met. As the Fund has a strong liquidity position, it has
SHEETRBNRBEES  EREES a very low level of liquidity risk.

BRI -

(e) FI=EpE (e) Interest rate risk

MZEEBIERETEN XS s M| HE Interest rate risk refers to the risk of loss arising from changes in
BRER - FIXEBIE—S 9 5EA market interest rates. This can be further classified into fair value
FEAMERBERESRENXRAR - interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk.
NEEFIZRARELSH T EHAFE Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a
BHERTEMNXESEHTEENER - financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
AN BESIFIESRTERIZET interest rates. Since all of the Fund’s bank deposits bear interest
FZRHAEFE » BTHIBMNK EFEF - at fixed rates, their fair values will fall when market interest
BELHEZMATEES TE - 2R rates increase. However, as they are all stated at amortised cost,
A E L TR IR B 8 s A E IR changes in market interest rates will not affect their carrying
iR XEF WAL EH IR EEM amounts and the Fund’s profit and reserves.

ESHEA N fEH -

HenefMXakmEieerm T AR Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows of a
RIS hRESRTHEMNEEEMILE financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
HERR ZLSEESHENIRSAER interest rates. The Fund's exposure to cash flow interest rate risk
KRERBREN RELESERAIE is small as it has no major floating-rate investments.

BE -
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

23. Financial risk management (continued)

()

(9

Other financial risk

The Fund is exposed to financial risk arising from changes in the
interest rate on the placement with the Exchange Fund which is
determined every January (note 10). It was estimated that, as at
31 March 2018, a 50 basis point (2017: 50 basis point) increase
/ decrease in the interest rates for 2017 and 2018, with all other
variables held constant, would increase / decrease the profit for
the year and reserves by HK$2,439,000 (2017: HK$3,775,000).

Fair values

The fair values of financial instruments quoted in active markets
are based on their quoted prices at the end of the reporting
period. In the absence of such quoted market prices, fair values
are estimated using present value or other valuation techniques,
using inputs based on market conditions existing at the end of
the reporting period.

All financial instruments are stated in the statement of financial
position at amounts equal to or not materially different from their
fair values.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

24. Possible impact of amendments, new

24. 2 EMEREE20185F3H

S1HIEEEHKRENIE
i;ﬁﬁﬂ&%ﬁ%ﬂ%

L — ]

HEAUBHREZLH 2H  BBSFHMA
SEMBMLIREET ~ FEA KRR - A
BEREE2018F3A831HIEEEMKRE
W IR BIRAIE A IR R PR ERANAY
B3] ~ SERI N RE - BEREFELIT A
HEEESHRMIER ¢

standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2018

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a number of amendments, new standards and interpretations
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2018 and
which have not been early adopted in these financial statements.
These include the following which may be relevant to the Fund:

BT B ez 4 FRrI S E TR R

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

BERYBREERNES "ER TR,

EBMEREREAIZEI55 TREEFEN
ZMN 4

HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments 2018F181H
1 January 2018
HKFRS 15, Revenue from 2018F181H

Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018

LEESIERZRTER]  FEAERERE
BREAMEBRNSEENREETF
- EEERRLE  @EESSHAER
RERNZFER ~ FTER KRB ARARE
SHEEESHNYBRERBRERTE -

The Fund is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments, new standards and interpretations
is expected to be in the period of initial adoption. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the Fund’s financial statements.

Chapter 7 Financial Results m
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B F5ER R MIGE Notes to the Financial Statements
(BR¥5FIZLEES) + BT B £ 8B LB TFIT (i 5T ) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

24. Bl EBREZE201853H 24. Possible impact of amendments, new

318 IEF F i\ R MY S
] (¥ﬁfﬂﬂ&.=ﬂ§ﬂ']_lﬁua,

BB BREEREY: "EMTA

BB BREENFIVIREEZE
BIZE39%% "Em T H - BRKFTE, 5l
ASRMEESELFENHRE  B8FF
BemEERETENREPGHHENHR
EeB—HHE > BEVMBHREENEIT
HWEBLITEREINEEeR T ENRE
RIGTIEERNRE  UASRBEND
HLETENMEE  WRIEEEKREBE] - &
B BEREEAFIRBBIECREE
N=EEE0E * (HEHKARE S (2)XU
NEEFTAEBR  LEGUAFEETAHR
fthRmElER - PEEERTEBIERR
AREREENESNRESREFFMEME °

LEESKBIERAR - RRREHEX
ﬁﬁyrﬁﬁ’]%@iéi‘%?—?ﬂm%%Hﬁ%?&

HEAE 9 RREBEBRAESENIE
FrrEEReMaR  2EATERIE
& e

FLE BIESIR

standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2018 (continued)

HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement” and introduces new requirements for classification
and measurement of financial assets, including the measurement
of impairment for financial assets and hedge accounting. On the
other hand, HKFRS 9 incorporates without substantive changes
the requirements of HKAS 39 for recognition and derecognition
of financial instruments and the classification and measurement of
financial liabilities. HKFRS 9 contains three primary categories for
measuring financial assets: (1) amortised cost, (2) fair value through
profit or loss and (3) fair value through other comprehensive income.
The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model and
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

The Fund has assessed that its financial assets currently measured at
amortised cost will continue with their respective classifications and
measurements under HKFRS 9. There are no changes to classification
and measurement for financial liabilities.
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g (#)

BB HmEEREYE TEM TR, (F)

BBY B REEREIRR RS AT
HEEHERE  MAEB S ERIZE39
WRATANEELEBRBERDE - HiRIE
RREEESNERKEUIRR - FETAH
EEBERET  BEBERESERE
BREART AER - ]I > WEART
FREERSZBERER  BRMTE12E
RIEMEEBERIKATAMEESE - &
‘E%ﬁE?N&E%%ﬁi@ﬂﬁﬁ*”ﬁﬁ?iﬁ’]?&%
TG - EEERAL EEESH/H
HY R A AR TR E AR L AT B T S AR E
BE - ARASBRERITHRERNE
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BB EERE15 T REEREN
ZHIA 4

ERMBEREENEISRMABERFEE
BB EE TWRABRIRE  WE
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9 WMARRREETRESEAE S EEE
MR BER MM A EESHNAESRE
B o ZERAITFSIABZNKERE » B
DIFWARE BRENSE  aNEE
&Eﬁﬂ]ﬁﬁ%iﬁ%ﬁ’\]ﬁiﬂ AR E T R
HEEER - @EESVERME BV

RELERBISHEEARARSHEEES
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(BR¥FBIRLEES) » BT 2889 LUBHEF i ) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

24. Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2018 (continued)

HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments (continued)

HKFRS 9 also introduces a new expected credit loss model to replace
the incurred loss impairment model used in HKAS 39. This new
model will apply to the Fund’s loans and receivables. Under the
expected credit loss model, it will no longer be necessary for a loss
event to occur before an impairment loss is recognised. Instead,
an entity is required to recognise and measure either a 12-month
expected credit loss or a lifetime expected credit loss, depending
on the assets and the facts and circumstances. The Fund is in the
process of making an assessment of the impact on applying the new
impairment model. So far it has concluded that the impairment
losses calculated under the new impairment model are not expected
to be significantly different from the amount recognised under the
current practice.

HKFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 replaces all current revenue recognition requirements under
HKFRSs and establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. According to HKFRS 15,
revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring
goods or services to a customer. The standard also introduces
extensive disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total
revenue, information about performance obligations, changes in
contract asset and liability account balances and key judgements
and estimates. The Fund has assessed that the adoption of HKFRS
15 is unlikely to have a significant impact on the Fund’s financial
statements.

Chapter 7 Financial Results
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Membership of Advisory Committees

Telecommunications Regulatory Affairs

(ét§2018$35315) Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2018)
E3 Chairman

ZHELE Mr Chaucer LEUNG

B SEEEERPATANEFAMRE (BH) Deputy Director-General (Telecommunications), OFCA

mE Secretary
SEfELLE Mr Sanda CHEUK
BANEFSEERPATERE (RE) Assistant Director (Regulatory), OFCA
=B Members
BERMAEL Dr Victor HUNG Tin Yau
HEEZESRRK Representative of Consumer Council
IR T2AT - 1B Ir Dr Peter CHIU Ping Kuen
BEEIEMEERE Representative of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers (HKIE)
ERIEIIEM Ir Kelvin MA
ITREBEZEFEIEGREK Representative of The Institution of Engineering and Technology Hong Kong (IETHK)
PREREL e Mr CHAN Kam Shing
BEBMEHERE Representative of Communications Association of Hong Kong
BRREL Mr Alex KUN
EREENEEENAE Representative of Hong Kong Wireless Technology Industry Association
RIgEEE Mr CHAN Chun Ying
i EBERBRARNRE Representative of 21 Vianet Group Limited
BRR%LE Mr Alex CHENG
FEBEBESBERARREK Representative of China Mobile Hong Kong Company Limited
REXEL Mr Karson NG
PR EERBEERARRE Representative of China Telecom Global Limited
RIRESELE Mr Sutton CHEUNG Yuet Pun
ERBREEB)BRATRNRE Representative of ComNet Telecom (HK) Limited
It s L Mr Raphael HO Sai Hang
Equinix Hong Kong Limited 4% Representative of Equinix Hong Kong Limited
PEERE L Mr LUK Kwok Keung
SIS ERARNRE Representative of HKC Network Limited
RERELRE Mr Richard LEUNG Wing Kai

ﬁg%%ﬁ?ﬂ%ﬁﬁ@@ﬁ / ERRALEREERAT

Representative of Hong Kong Broadband Network Limited / HKBN Enterprise Solutions
Limited

PR{EN S Mr CHAN Wai Man
EBEERERERARNE Representative of Hong Kong Cable Television Limited
MERHSEE Mr Peter LAM WC

Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited /
EHHBEEER/AR KHong Kong Telecommunications (HKT)
Limited / ESABRIRNKEB(EB)BRARNE

Representative of Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited /
PCCW-HKT Telephone Limited and Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited / PCCW
Global (HK) Limited

"BERELZL Ms Juliana WONG Yuk Hing

M EFEERAT / Genius Brand Limited {3 Representative of Hutchison Telephone Company Limited / Genius Brand Limited
EE/E Miss Katherine KWOK

RR2EHEMERATRE Representative of HGC Global Communications Limited

RtwEsE Mr Patrick NG

NTT Com Asia Limited X3 Representative of NTT Com Asia Limited

PR faEE Mr OR Tin Lun

SmarTone Communications Limited / BB BAER Representative of SmarTone Communications Limited / SmarTone Mobile Communications
UNGIlAES Limited

Mr Paul ABFALTER
Telstra International HK Limited 3R AR I BB R
NCIEaES

Mr Paul ABFALTER
Representative of Telstra International HK Limited and Telstra International Limited

EEELE Mr Walter NGAN

HLRBSAERERATKEK Representative of Towngas Telecommunications Fixed Network Limited
BISREEE Mr Kenneth LAU

TraxComm Limited A% Representative of TraxComm Limited

SEE Lt Ms Clareta CHIA May Yin

Verizon Hong Kong Limited A3 Representative of Verizon Hong Kong Limited

FREIE 2+ Ms Agnes TAN

EBEMERARNRE Representative of WTT HK Limited
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Telecommunications Regulatory Affairs
Advisory Committee (continued)

Ms Susana HALLIDAY
Superloop (Hong Kong) Limited X3

Ms Susana HALLIDAY
Representative of Superloop (Hong Kong) Limited

BEELE
HINBEEEE / FeEEE (HHIETERY) FhE
AR

Mr Chris TSANG Chi Tat
Representative of External Fixed Carrier / Unified Carrier (External Fixed Services)
Licensees as a group

HER%HE Mr WONG Wai Man

ﬁ?ﬁ?%@@ﬂﬁi‘%“%%ﬁ%‘ K& Representative of Radio Paging Operators as a group

MR A 5% Mr Stephen CHAN Yuk Choi

PRIEE #)J#F’EHHQ BRE AR RE Representative of Services-Based Operators (SBO) Licensees as a group
EIRELLE Mr Allen LAW

HHNEARBEMERARE Representative of External Telecommunications Service (ETS) Operators as a group
MoKkERE Mr Fred LAM Wing Chak

EBEBRAE Representative of Hong Kong Police Force

PRpEE 2+ Ms Eva CHAN Yuen Wah

BRIREAL Member appointed on an ad personam basis

BIkELEE Mr York MOK Sui Wah

BEREEAL Member appointed on an ad personam basis

Dr Andrew Ferguson SIMPSON Dr Andrew Ferguson SIMPSON

BERIZEFEAL Member appointed on an ad personam basis
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Radio Spectrum and Technical Standards
Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2018)

*E Chairman
L Fot b Mr CHENG Chi Keung
BANEEEERMATEIEME (B1T) Assistant Director (Operations), OFCA
= Secretary
TaREE Mr TING Lap Hing
BREREERPATSHRENTZA (JELEE) Senior Telecommunications Engineer (Spectrum Planning) , OFCA
%8 Members
BpREFSELE Mr Brian CHENG Yeuk Nin
HEEZEERE Representative of Consumer Council
FPERKLE Mr Michael LEE
BERESEMEMEES (BRE) K& Representative of EU ICT Council in Hong Kong and Macau
RIFESEL Dr Lawrence CHEUNG Chi Chong
BBLENRERKR Representative of Hong Kong Productivity Council
;Bf’ﬁIkEﬂi Ir Wilson KWOK Wai Shun
HE1IEMEBERE Representative of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
FEEEL Dr LEE Wah Ching
IREBRZBEFEIGHEK Representative of The Institution of Engineering and Technology Hong Kong
RIRE L Mr CHEUNG Yuet Pun
A EAZEFAEBA B Representative of Local Industry Associations
BRMR%E Mr Alex CHENG
FEBEBHEBERARNR Representative of China Mobile Hong Kong Company Limited
REESRE Mr Richard LEUNG Wing Kai
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Representative of Hong Kong Broadband Network Limited /
HKBN Enterprise Solutions Limited

Bk EE

Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited / &#&&E:E AR
/A& KHong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited / PCCW
Global (HK) Limited 5%

Mr SM SHUEN

Representative of Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited /

PCCW-HKT Telephone Limited and Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited /
PCCW Global (HK) Limited

BEREE Mr LAU Tak Man
ML EEER/AT / Genius Brand Limited A3 Representative of Hutchison Telephone Company Limited / Genius Brand Limited
BRIRESEE Mr Michael SHIU
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Representative of HGC Global Communications Limited
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Radio Spectrum and Technical Standards
Advisory Committee (continued)
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EAERERARNRE Representative of WTT HK Limited
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Representative of Licensees (Unified Carrier/ Local Fixed Carrier /
Local FTNS) NOT providing domestic retail fixed services as a group
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Mr HUNG Hing Chu
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Local FTNS) NOT providing domestic retail fixed services as a group
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Representative of External / Fixed Carrier Licensees /
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AL E Mr Joseph HO Chi Yun

R Representative of Civil Aviation Department

EH¢ Sk en Ms Diana CHAN Wing Yan

EBEBERERE Representative of Hong Kong Police Force

EHtiEL Dr Simon WONG Sai Man

RBABRE Representative of Independent Commission Against Corruption
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RAMHEE Mr Eric LEUNG
RERBE Representative of the aged community
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ABMATHEK Representative as a member of the public
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NR/ATHE Representative as a member of the public
BEREE Mr Daniel LO Wai Man
NRATHE Representative as a member of the public
BREEEE Mr Thomas SUN Kwun Tak
NR/ATHE Representative as a member of the public
FEIRIBELE Mr WONG Chun Bong
NRATHE Representative as a member of the public
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NMALHE Representative as a member of the public
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NRATHE Representative as a member of the public
AHFFT Lt Miss Eva LAU Sau Fan
NR/ATHE Representative as a member of the public
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NRATHE Representative as a member of the public
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BERIZEFEAL Member appointed on an ad personam basis
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Performance Pledge

122017 185FE » HMIEDII4ERIEFY
ERYBUREREEE - 2018 19FER
FERFERBEBEEFEIAT -

BARENORBRKFERREE EXSERIK
BREEITHENIFERE TEEEL
RERE  BARBSERFILTY FIIRERE

In 2017/18, we achieved/surpassed all performance targets in our 34 job
areas. The full list of our performance targets for 2018/19 are also set out

in the table below.

The level of service we provide is influenced to some extent by exceptional
circumstances and workloads during peak periods. The following table
takes these factors into account and sets out the standard service delivery

B - times we aim to achieve for a wide range of services.
2017 /185 2017/ 18EERBRBEE 2017 /18FE | 2018/ 19EE 2 RIFRFFY
BERERRE (ZERBELENENE) ERTIRERR (FRAAREXRER)
Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average | Service Delivery Standard
Standard (% meeting service standard) | Performance (Performance Target in Bracket)

BRIE[E B AR 75 h PR FR

FFARMBIRE B IR, EMAEEER
& B AR 7

Non-domestic Television Programme
Service/Other Licensable Television
Programme Service

BRIE BN AR 75 A PR FR

BEERBRMER

Mobile Radio System Licence

for 2017/18

Processing of Broadcasting Service Licence Applications

Processing of Telecommunications Service Licence Applications

for 2017/18 in2017/18 for 2018/19

&R

months

BEHER

No new case

R

months

100%

(100%)

ol anew syt B, 9% 100% 3857, (98%)
e osession | 32EIE%. 08Y% 100% 325, (98%)
s of o B e 99% 100% 5%, (99%)
e saton B e 99% 100% 8%, (99%)
B sl e 99% 100% 55, (99%)
e satons s 99% 100% 8., (99%)
BHEMEARN BIfEX BIfEX

Replacement of base station equipment

99% 100% (99%)

working days working days

E £\ s



EERERSEE
TRADING FURD-REPORT

201/ 11

RRIZENRIFREIRFEE (#8)

2017 /185
12 R RS
Service Delivery
Standard

for 2017/18

2017/ 18FERBRABE
(EHRBEEENENER)

Performance Target

(% meeting service standard)

for 2017/18

2017 /185

2018 /19FEZE RN

ERTORBRE (ERAAREXRER)

Actual Average
Performance
in2017/18

Service Delivery Standard
(Performance Target in Bracket)
for 2018/19

Processing of Telecommunications Service Licence Applications (continued)

BEVEIRBRATER (1F)

Mobile Radio System Licence (continued)

saEm
ot lenc ot i 99% 100% = 8liiws (99%)
FEIREEER EIfEX BIfX

Radio Dealers Licence

working days

99%

100%

(99%)

working days

T RNELEBEEFETHIRER
Industrial Scientific and Medical
Electronic Machines Licence

BIEX

working days

99%

100%

BIEX

working days

(99%)

ERBRAENES - MERBIRNEEZE
i

Radiodetermination and Conveyance
of Commands, Status and Data Licence

BIfEX
working days

99%

100%

v{%]olrlﬁi days (99 %)

BESRILARRER

soelie vaster amema eevsion 1150, 98%  100% 1157, (98%
SIS Ial=SPAN ,ﬁ

2)?1??) ?camt}i%f: Licence {v%glflﬁn? days 99% 1 00% {\Eolrlgié days 99 %
EHREAMR EIfEX

Amateur Station Licence

working days

99%

100%

BRYIINEBMARTER
Self-provided External
Telecommunications
System Licence

2 BIfEX

working days

99%

HEFER

No new case

(98%)
(99%)
v{%olrlﬁédays (99 %)
(99%)

2 BIfX

working days

F—RANE_BERFEMEER
Services-based Operator Licence
— Class 1 and Class 2 Services

1 BIfEX

working days

98%

100%

1 BIfX

working days

BRI E R
Services-based Operator Licence
- Class 3 Services

1 BIfEX

working days

99%

Rig CBEE - REMEIMZEBBR LK) RIPZAERRZHHA

100%

1 EIfEX
working days

Processing of Certificate and Endorsement Applications under the International Convention on Standards of

Training, Certification and Watchkeeping for Seafarers (STCW Convention)

PIELBRNTERMERS MET
Global Maritime Distress and Safety
System (GMDSS) Certificate and
Endorsement

BIfEX
working days

95%

100%

EIfER
working days

(95%)

2B LBRNL2RARERE
ERERELEH

GMDSS Certificate of Equivalent
Competency and Endorsement

BIfEX

working days

95%

100%

BIfX

working days

(95%)
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2017 /18 & 2017 /18EERBREBE 12017 /18FE 2018/ 19FERERIBISH
EEREER (EHRBEENENE) ERTHRBRE HERABRERREE)

Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average | Service Delivery Standard
Standard (% meeting service standard) | Performance (Performance Target in Bracket)
for 2017/18 for 2017/18 in2017/18 for 2018/19
ERETERSE
Investigation of Radio Interference
HEERBH TR E - ACETEEREAEE
B O EIEEALREE 0 0 FAMEN AT ( 0 )
Interference on Investigation - Investigation within
commercial services Wit ) Working ays 96 A) 1 OO A) 6 working days 96 A]
HEER B TR i . HYETEEREREE
- _F O BIfRREAEE 0 0 {ERPIESTRE ( 0 )
Interference on broadcastin Investigation ' Investigation within
services 9 gaton J working days 96A 1OOA 9 working days 96&

FRIZSRAS RERE AR

Processing of Applications for Numbers/Codes

eI BN SRIE B
Assignment of telecommunications v{%olrlgi/gl\days 90% 1 OO% E&g’iﬁédays (90%)

numbers and codes

B );JZ%@%D?%H&?@E’\J
E i

Checking, processing and acceptance  1() Lo~ 100% 100% 10 5riass (100%)
of return of telecommunications
numbers

RIZBERMIREEER (EE (HIRMESC) RE) « (ERHEEGD) - (EEIEED FALE « EEMRBEREES - SiEHE
EBRFRNERSERG (BT (EREA) mFEXVIRFEIN)

Handling of Complaints about Broadcasting Matters involving Suspected Breach of the Broadcasting (Miscellaneous

Provisions) Ordinance, the Broadcasting Ordinance, Part IlIA of the Telecommunications Ordinance, the terms
or conditions of a Broadcasting Licence, or the Broadcasting Codes of Practice (except for complaints relating to
Competition Provisions of the Broadcasting Ordinance)

BTN
Tssi%)i; an ?Iiterim reply v@olrk{;iédays 98% 1 OO% Eolrlj’i?gidays (98%)

AERAETNERBARFABERER
B (RMABERER - AIRRFAR
EEE) 2 =
Inform complainants of results of cases E;SE 98% 1 OO% Eeiefz (98%)
not involving an investigation ™ (or
report of progress to the complainant
if results of cases are not ready)

B R EIIRER A FTiR L W HIEET -

Note Upon receipt of sufficient information from complainants.

FEN\E gk



2 e sy

2017 /185 017 /18EERBRRAE  2017/18FE | 2018 /19 E B L RIBHHEY
12 IR (ERRHEEENANE) ERTHRERE (BRABREREEE)

Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average | Service Delivery Standard
Standard (% meeting service standard) | Performance (Performance Target in Bracket)
for 2017/18 for 2017/18 in2017/18 for 2018/19

RIZARREEER (FEE (MIRGRI) R60) - (EREGD) - (CBAMGEL) SBINALRR « EREMRBEREIGEY - SERE
EBRTFRANERSERF (BT (EREG) mFERRFRIN) (F)

Handling of Complaints about Broadcasting Matters involving Suspected Breach of the Broadcasting (Miscellaneous

Provisions) Ordinance, the Broadcasting Ordinance, Part IlIA of the Telecommunications Ordinance, the terms
or conditions of a Broadcasting Licence, or the Broadcasting Codes of Practice (except for complaints relating to
Competition Provisions of the Broadcasting Ordinance) (continued)

MHEEETEHERENRTTAA
KRIAANBBEENEHEER (BAR)
MRS (RAKBBABDIER A
MEFAREEE)
Inform complainants of the B2 0 0 B2 0
. . . -3 7
e e B 9% 8. (%)
involving a straightforward
investigation ™ (or report of
progress to the complainant if CA’s
decision is not ready)
B RETEAEATHRFBIIRHFA
BEBEARFHRY (MK EENB
BIEOR Bl A REEE )

decision on complaints nwolving a o 98% 100% 4%  (98%)

complex investigation ™ (or report
of progress to the complainant if CA's
decision is not ready)

Telecommunications Ordinance or Licence Conditions of the Telecommunications Service Licences
N
Full reply to complainant (or interim working days
Handling of Complaints against Operators relating to Competition Provisions or Misleading or Deceptive Conduct

RIEEREMEREIREEER (FEL) B ARBEREFIEEE R
SR EREFA (SUIRAEFEH
BIfEX
90% 1 00% 2 working days (90%)
reply if full reply is not ready)
Provisions of the Telecommunications Ordinance

Handling of Consumer Complaints against Telecommunications Operators involving Suspected Breach of the
EF - Rlia TS EE) 2 ENRIZS

RRIZSTHIE MR T (BAUEG) BRF RN ARSI MERMEIT ARME AR

ZREE QAARRBE  AARF  yymsens

- Ny RETAA
NBEHRE) 4R - WBAR
Completion of investigation (or Within a further 80% N\c;'ﬁ“ew i Within a further (80%)
report of progress to the complainant _4-month period after 4-month period after

preliminary investigation preliminary investigation

if investigation is not completed)

s FRU R EF A FTiR LR S0 RIEERT -

Note Upon receipt of sufficient information from complainants.
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2017 /185 2017 /18 EEMRBERREE
B2 RIS (ERBEENBAR)
Service Delivery Performance Target
Standard (% meeting service standard)
for2017/18 for 2017/18

2017 /185

Actual Average
Performance
in2017/18

2018/ 19 E R R RIEHMA
ERTURBRE (BRARRBRREER)
Service Delivery Standard
(Performance Target in Bracket)
for 2018/19

RIZEMEHmREER (BEG) SEMMBEREHNRTIREGT (BT (BAIRA) BFEXMEREME

HR BRI 1T R B IR SCRYIRERBR SN )

Handling of Industry Complaints against Operators (except for complaints relating to Competition Provisions and
Misleading or Deceptive Conduct Provisions of the Telecommunications Ordinance) involving Suspected Breach of
the Telecommunications Ordinance or Licence Conditions of the Telecommunications Services Licences

SRR TEE (AR
HAE - AMRHFARSEE)
Completion of full investigation
(or report of progress to the
complainant if full investigation is
not completed)

Within
4 BIERA

working days

RIZERREER (GFEASETFAESMEG) BBER

90%

BEFRER

No new case

Within

4

BIEXA
working days

(90%)

Handling of Reports on Suspected Contravention of the Unsolicited Electronic Messages Ordinance

SERGFEHIAE (SRS
HE - AlMRFARSEER)
Completion of full investigation
(or report of progress to the
complainant if full investigation is
not completed)

Within
1 T

weeks

HEMBMMRBNARERRIRFEHEE

Reply to Public Enquiries and Complaints of OFCA’s Services

FHMOEER (SRR AFMD

= EU%@?’@J&%%) Within
Full reply for enquiries (or interim

reply if full reply cannot be

provided)

BIEXRA
working days

90%

90%

99.86%

100%

Within

1

Within

BEHA

weeks

BIfEXA
working days

(90%)

(90%)

RS (SRR

e AR ARSERE) Wihin
Full reply for complaints (or report 1
of progress to the complainant if

full investigation is not completed)

BIEXRA
working days

90%

100%

Within

1

BIEXA
working days

(90%)

& - B2018F 108 - MR BIEBREBNEARBIFMALSHER (BRIAEG) (53628 ) MATEHEXAIREFEIA—IR
MRS AGE | ERMEDEERFEN=EAA  MRERMERER - AMNFARFARLEZRPBEE R - RERHEBEZEH

ZAAHIEZERE B AR A R IRAF R o

Remarks: From October 2018, we have introduced a new performance pledge on the handling of complaint against broadcasting and
telecommunications licensees on suspected contravention of the fair trading sections of the Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Cap. 362): we will
within 3 months upon acknowledgement of receipt of the complaint issue case progress to the complainant if the case result is not ready. The
performance target is that 90% of the cases will meet this service delivery standard.

FEN\E gk
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Appendix D

BB EEREMEE

HERBURIEE

(BZ2018F3A31HFER)

AR IESE

2 O-] 7/1 8 TRHDII']G Fﬂ%\gli;:O?'

AR R AEhE

Licences Issued and Renewed

Broadcasting and Telecommunications Licences
Issued / Renewed and Revenue Collected

(For the year ended 31 March 2018)

Y S
No. of Licences
Issued / Renewed

Type of Licences

EREER
iR B BHEEERE
AW E BRE B IR
AR BRED B RS
Hith/A R BEH B R
FEE
B s
BEERENEKE

MEESHEXEEEA
MZREAR
ERBRERESR
ERER
RIGEERERE

P g
ERMERES
E%,,AFEL\

N/ HHNE RS
BIEEREE)
AD/ O
T¥ NELREESTHM

MEDBRTE

RAEREETRE
NHERBBNRE
EREHHERS)

EREBEMER

ERBAELURIES  MERBEER

HEBRARRR
EREEIERIES )

PRI E M — N E R
RS & P 58 = R
WHES

TR ERE

M ESBBARE
PRSI RES
SRR

|

Broadcasting Licences

Domestic Free Television Programme Service 3
Domestic Pay Television Programme Service 2
Non-domestic Television Programme Service 14
Other Licensable Television Programme Service 22
Sound Broadcasting 2
Telecommunications Licences / Permits / Certificates
Academic Institution Self-provided 2
Telecommunications Installation
Aeronautical VHF Fixed Station 34
Aircraft Station 334
Amateur ATO 586
Amateur Station 2,619
Broadcast Radio Relay Station 16
Duplicate Licence 168
Examination & Issue of Certificate 910
Experimental Station 88
Fixed Internal / External Services 52
Hotel Television (Transmission) 161
Import/Export Permit 923
Industrial, Scientific & Medical Electronic Machine 1,331
Mobile Radio System or 4,034
Private Mobile Radio System
Mobile Services 9
Private Radio Paging System 8
Public Radiocommunications Service 7
Radio Dealers (Unrestricted) 3,678
Radiocommunications School 6
Radiodetermination and Conveyance of 206
Commands, Status and Data
Satellite Master Antenna Television 69
Self-provided External Telecommunications System 8
Services-based Operator of Class 1 or 2 Service 19
Services-based Operator of Class 3 Service 491
Ship Station 4,358
Space Station Carrier 11
Taxi Radiocommunications Service 24
Wide Band Link & Relay Station 66
Wireless Internet of Things 2
Total 20,263
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18,877,267
11,670,173
878,006
901,300
8,877,705

7,000

51,250
51,737
93,760
400,225
11,500
9,240
178,815
26,750
124,904,427
633,217
138,450
116,953
34,267,545

183,827,332
50,600
1,469,200
5,494,875
2,000
173,120

5,280,225
6,562
1,270,798
15,939,758
644,710
1,749,500
569,646
162,275
66,667

418,802,588
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OFFICE OF THE
—_— COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY

BHEBREERMAE

Office of the Communications Authority

#htE Address . BEEBFERNER2135MMATBAE29E
29/F Wu Chung House, 213 Queen's Road East
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

BHEE Enquiry Hotline : 2961 6333
#81E Website - www.ofca.gov.hk




